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THE FOTHERINGHAM FAMILY
Palmerston, Ontario, Core Farmers, District 8

With three generations all working together to provide 
Premium Ontario Chicken, the Fotheringhams are a true 
definition of a family-run business. The Fotheringhams take 
sustainable farming and environmental-friendliness to heart, 
with several large-scale solar panel installations being utilized 
throughout their operations. 

THE WESTERHOUT FAMILY 
Clinton, Ontario, Core Farmers, District 2

Long-time chicken farmers in the Clinton region, the 
Westerhout family continually look for ways to innovate and 
achieve excellence in producing healthy and nutritious chicken. 
In mid-2019, the Westerhouts installed the very first barn 
in North America with two heat exchanger units that also 
includes a cooling system.

Meet Our  
Farmers
Chicken Farmers of Ontario represents 
over 1,300 family-run chicken farms 
across the province, encompassing 
many multigenerational farmers as 
well as families that are new to the 
industry. Meet some of the many 
friendly farming faces that raise 
Premium Ontario Chicken with passion 
and care for Ontario  consumers. 



THE ALEXANDER FAMILY 
Cargill, Ontario, Core Farmers, District 1

Orrie Alexander and his wife are multi-generational chicken 
farmers that provide Premium Ontario Chicken through their 
farm business, the Creek Bank Poultry Farm. Having recently 
taken over the chicken farming operation from his parents, 
Orrie and his family are excited to be expanding the business 
with a brand-new broiler barn built in mid-2019.

THE MERRIFIELD FAMILY 
Jasper, Ontario, Artisanal Chicken Farmers, District 9

Ryan Merrifield and his wife Monica are passionate Artisanal 
chicken farmers who are making a big impact with their small-scale 
poultry operation. For the past three years, the Merrifields have 
pasture-raised between 1500-2500 birds per year, and love teaching 
their two young children the ins-and-outs of their innovative and 
unique chicken farming process.

THE ELLIOTT FAMILY 
Ripley, Ontario, New Entrant & Raised  
Without Antibiotics Farmers, District 1

The Elliott family joined the chicken industry in 2018 through 
the New Entrant Chicken Farmer program. As Raised Without 
Antibiotics (RWA) farmers, the Elliotts look forward to 
continuing to both gain and share their RWA and New Entrant 
experiences with fellow farmer-members and industry partners 
through networking and engagement events.

THE MEADOWS FAMILY 
Stratford, Ontario, Core Farmers, District 8

Having just completed a new, second chicken barn on their 
farm operation, Dave and Christine Meadows — along with 
their two young sons — are looking forward to using their new 
barn to grow the poultry side of their business.  The Meadows 
enjoy working on all of their farms as a family and carrying on 
the business for future generations.



A GROWING, PROFITABLE AND  
SUSTAINABLE CHICKEN INDUSTRY

TO LEAD POSITIVE CHANGE AND BUILD VALUE AS 
CANADA’S PREMIER PROVIDER OF TRUSTED,  
FAMILY-FARMED, SAFE, HIGH QUALITY CHICKEN

3320 South Service Road, Burlington, Ontario, L7R 3Y8 | P: 905-637-0025 | ontariochicken.ca

OUR Vision:

OUR Mission:

OUR ROLE:
WE KNOW THAT SUCCESS REQUIRES PROVIDING  
CFO LEADERSHIP IN MULTIPLE ROLES
Through leadership and an unwavering commitment to shared success, we remain 
relevant to our stakeholders and we strive to build trust every day.

SUPPLY MANAGEMENT LEADER AND STEWARD
Deliver effective, responsive and progressive regulation that promotes, empowers 
and supports significant value creation in profitable growth, competitiveness, risk 
management, and sustainability, and which instills trust and support.

FARMER-MEMBER BUSINESS ADVOCATE
Work with farmer-members to assist, represent and promote the interests of 
chicken farmers, ensuring that farmer-members have the opportunity to obtain 
fair and sustainable financial returns and to enable investment in a sustainable 
growing Ontario chicken industry.

INDUSTRY VALUE CHAIN BUILDER
Work collaboratively with industry value chain stakeholders to create a business 
environment with positive, productive relationships that drive profitable growth, 
allow the industry to compete successfully and realize a sustainable future.
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The Honourable Ernie 
Hardeman, Minister  
of Agriculture, Food 
and Rural Affairs  
speaking to CFO Board 
of Directors and  
District Committee  
Representatives
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It is a privilege to provide remarks for Chicken Farmers of Ontario's (CFO) 2019 Annual 
Performance Report.

I commend CFO for your commitment to sustainable and innovative business that meets the 
demand of Ontario's market. CFO's Board and farmer-members continue to give back to 
Ontario's communities through CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks. Through this collaborative 
effort, the total donation for 2019 alone equaled over 1.7 million meals of fresh, nutritious, 
locally-grown chicken—something to be proud of!

This year, Ontario's government invested in the chicken farming industry to equip Ontarian 
farmers in case of emergency situations such as disease outbreak or barn damage from fire or 
extreme weather. Under the Canadian Agricultural Partnership, we announced shared funding 
with the Government of Canada of $350,873 to CFO working with Ontario Broiler Hatching Egg 
and Chick Commission and the Association of Ontario Chicken Processors. This project will 
deliver a third-party service that ensures chickens are handled in a humane manner during 
emergency situations.

Ontario chicken farmers stood in solidarity with other livestock producers for the introduction 
of Bill 156, the proposed Security from Trespass and Protecting Food Safety Act. This piece of 
legislation is an important step to protect farm animals, the food supply, farmers and others from 
risks that are created when persons engage in unauthorized interactions with farm animals.

This year, CFO also made significant contributions to our government's red tape reduction 
efforts. CFO has undertaken an internal process of consulting with farmer-members, specifically 
with the governance leadership team, which comprises Board Directors and District Committee 
Representatives. These consultations have determined several areas for proposed policy review 
resulting in anticipated red tape reduction.

CFO continues to support a vast portfolio of programs that expand business opportunities for 
chicken farmers and offer Ontario consumers even more choice in accessing locally-grown 
chicken. These include the Artisanal Chicken Program, Specialty Breeds Chicken Program and 
New Entrant Chicken Farmers Program.

As you continue to build value and shape the future of CFO, I am eager to see the steps that 
CFO will take to fulfill its vision to grow Ontario's chicken industry. I am confident that your sector 
is in good hands.

A MESSAGE FROM

the honourable  
Ernie Hardeman
MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE, FOOD  
AND RURAL AFFAIRS

Letter from Minister Hardeman 
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Orrie Alexander,  
District 1 farmer-member, 
from Cargill, Ontario
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20192018

Ontario Chicken Industry At-A-Glance

ONTARIO CHICKEN INDUSTRY

At-A-Glance

42
116

$3.81 BILLION
ENTERING THE CHICKEN BUSINESS

ONTARIO CHICKEN  
INDUSTRY’S ANNUAL  
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

NEW  
BARNS BUILT

577

243

2019

590

249

2018

$874
$921

NEW FARMERS

(includes new quota holders & existing quota holders)

MILLION

MILLION

MILLION

MILLION

MILLION

MILLION

22,370 JOBS SUPPORTED BY THE INDUSTRY

CHICKS PLACED

KILOGRAMS PRODUCED

FARM GATE VALUE OF 
ONTARIO CHICKEN GROWN
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It is a privilege to 
lead and steward 
our supply  
management- 
regulated  
chicken industry.

Rob Dougans, 
President & CEO 

Ed Benjamins, 
Chair
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Next Level

NEXT LEVEL

TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS: 
We are committed to advancing sustainable, high quality chicken agriculture 
and working to enable Ontario farmers to earn a good living, now and for 
future generations. 
In an industry that must deal with constant change, it is critically important that CFO remains 
future-focused, effective and highly relevant to its farmer-members, customers, industry value 
chain stakeholders, to public policy, and consumers. 

We must continue to successfully adapt and evolve in order to meet the changes underway,  
and the modern realities that we face.

NEXT LEVEL: 
VALUE CREATION  
We believe our performance in 2019 demonstrates we have 
made progress in making our business stronger. 

However, we regretfully did not succeed in achieving  
CFO’s #1 priority: a principle-based, better Ontario minimum 
live price outcome, as expressed in a new Cost of Production 
Formula (COPF), and to be implemented during 2019. 

MEASURING OUR PROGRESS TOWARDS 
RESPONSIBLE AND RESPECTFUL PRICING

We are very aware of our responsibility to enable 
our farmers to earn a good living, and for their 
farm enterprises to thrive.  
Successful family farms are a crucial building block to 
Ontario’s rural communities. CFO represents over 1,300 
family-run farms located in over 330 communities across 
Ontario. Chicken farms support over 22,000 jobs in Ontario 
and contribute over $3.8 billion annually to Ontario 
economic activity.

Farmer financial well being has become increasingly diminished 
since the implementation of Ontario’s first COPF in 2015, 
resulting in a decline in financial returns to farmers.

2019 was meant to be a year of positive COPF transformation.  
We strived to move forward, to re-balance and strengthen the 
historical COPF mechanism, and to improve farmer incomes 
and better position our farmers - ultimately to strengthen and 
sustain the family farm.

Our COPF project goal was very clear: 

“to innovate and collaborate with industry to achieve a 
minimum live price formula that provides for a fair and 
reasonable return on labour and capital, and that enables 
investment in a sustainable growing Ontario chicken industry.”

Commencing in 2018 and continuing through 2019, CFO 
endeavoured to develop a new COPF and create shared 
success with the Association of Ontario Chicken Processors 
(AOCP). Despite best intentions, a disciplined process, 
dedicated work and considerable resourcing - we were  
not successful. 

Throughout the months of COPF work, it has become clear that 
Ontario primary processor-buyers do not hold the same views as 
CFO on what constitutes fair financial rewards for farmers - today 
and for the future.  

CFO and AOCP are now advancing their distinct, opposing 
positions for new Ontario pricing to the Ontario Farm 
Products Marketing Commission (OFPMC) for its review, 
analysis - and a COPF decision in 2020.  
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NEXT LEVEL:  
OUR MISSION IS OUR PURPOSE
First and foremost, we are inspired by our Mission, 

“to lead positive change and build value as 
Canada’s premier provider of trusted,  
family-farmed, safe, high quality chicken.” 

This is our responsibility, and everything we do is guided by 
our Mission. Our aim is to generate significant value for our 
farmer-members and to also strengthen the Ontario chicken 
industry. We must both protect and grow our business, 
responsibly. 

We serve our farmer-members and customers in attractive and 
growing markets. We are well-positioned in a very attractive 
protein market. The nature of our business is to enable 
growth, quality, safety, efficiency, reliability and sustainability. 
We aspire to be an organization that consistently delivers 
exceptional performance.

Our team is aligned to achieve our Mission. It motivates 
our CFO colleagues to do their best every day. Additionally, 
everything we do is grounded in our four Values: Leadership, 
Accountability, Excellence and Collaboration.

ADVANCING AND TRANSFORMING

It is a privilege to lead and steward our supply 
management-regulated chicken industry. 

We have a responsibility to lead and evolve our 
supply management system, and to further build 
on our legacy. 

In 2019, we kept executing on our strategy to deliver 
governance, commercial, operational and financial excellence:

• Strengthen supply management system relevance, good 
practice, and credibility; 

• Deliver positive outcomes for farmer-members;

• Deliver positive outcomes for consumers; 

• Support open, fair and competitive markets; 

• Contribute to a successful chicken industry value  
chain environment;

• Be alert to, identify, understand, manage, and mitigate risks; 

• Establish and maintain integrity, fairness, reliability and trust 
in business relations with stakeholders;

• Pursue continuous improvement and innovation to help 
make farmer-members more successful, and to generating 
long-term chicken industry value;

• Continually work to maintain and improve quality in all our 
regulatory approaches, processes and programs.

FORGING A PURPOSEFUL FUTURE

We are entering the decade of the 2020s 
and we will need to be better.

We have to think differently than yesterday.

What opportunities, challenges and change dynamics will 
chicken agriculture and industry face, as we move forward? 
We believe creating a better tomorrow starts today, and we 
continually strive toward improvement and excellence for the 
betterment of our farmer-members and the chicken industry. 

During 2019, CFO embarked on a disciplined process to 
focus-forward: with the development of CFO Strategic Plan 
2020-2022.  

CFO’s strategy, regulatory and commercial initiatives, as 
well as our daily work, will ensure that farmer-members 
have the opportunity to obtain fair and sustainable financial 
returns; have a beneficial impact on consumers; adapt to and 
support open, fair and competitive markets; drive growth and 
productivity in the chicken industry, and advance the 
Ontario economy. 

to lead positive change 
and build value as  
Canada’s premier provider 
of trusted, family-farmed, 
safe, high quality chicken.
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NEXT LEVEL:  
HOW WE SUCCEED
A strong commitment and a better strategy  
for performance and sustainable value.

Relentless execution. 
Every successful team has a playbook designed around 
its strategy, collective strengths and commitment to 
performance. Our playbook has been in place for several 
years, but we continue to refine, revitalize and innovate 
five strategic levers: the foundation for everything we do.

1. Profitable, Consistent Growth

We grow with consumers and our customers. 

We’re committed to driving high quality revenue 
growth and consistent margin expansion.

CFO allocation and business development leadership at 
Chicken Farmers of Canada has helped support a good year for 
Ontario production growth in 2019. We capitalized on positive 
market conditions with planned production allocation volumes 
of 2.2% over adjusted base. 2019 was the sixth consecutive 
year of significant growth.

Importantly, we continued to grow our farmer-membership 
with 42 new farmers entering the chicken business in 2019.

We operate in growing markets that are underpinned by 
positive consumer trends. High quality chicken continues 
to be the preferred consumer meat protein choice. We will 
continue to achieve profitable sustainable growth by being 
responsive to, and consistently meeting, consumer demand 

and increasing chicken’s market share of consumer meat 
protein consumption.

Growth was achieved across CFO’s diversified business 
portfolio: in Core, Specialty and Community business 
segments. Higher levels of growth were achieved in certain 
distinct premium markets: in Core: Raised Without Antibiotics; 
in Specialty: Specialty Breeds and Organic; and in Community: 
Artisanal. 

2. Responsible, Sustainable Production

CFO farmer-members work diligently to deliver 
production quality, safety, efficiency, reliability 
and sustainability.

Seeking the next level of performance, we 
continually improve production standards, 
practices, capabilities and outcomes.

In 2019, our farmers achieved production fulfillment results of 
100.44% and 590 million live kilograms. 

Consumer interest in, and expectations of, food production 
standards and practices is increasing. Often, this is 
characterized as “sustainably raised” or “environmentally 
friendly” or “socially responsible”. Research indicates that 
consumers care about how farm animals are raised, and this 
factor influences their food choices. 

Our strategy and business model must also evolve, not only to 
keep pace, but to stay ahead of this change. CFO is committed 
to advancing responsible, sustainable production practices. At 
a most basic performance level, CFO will continue to advance 
the chicken industry’s Code of Practice. 
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During 2019, we have focused on continuous improvement in 
flock production outcomes to better meet marketplace needs, 
to achieve optimum financial returns for our farmer-members, 
and to support the profitable, sustainable growth of the 
industry. A special Board Working Group and the Production 
Committee focused on optimizing production results. 

We also experienced a significant level of farmer-member 
investments in new barn construction which will enhance future 
Ontario production capacity and efficiency. 116 new barns were 
built by new quota holders and existing quota holders. 

3. Effective Risk Management

We actively identify, assess, mitigate, 
and manage risks.

In all our operations, our explicit aim is to ensure 
what we do today lowers risk and strengthens 
both CFO farmer-members and the Ontario 
industry value chain for the future.

CFO has consistently advocated for implementation of a 
progressive national antimicrobial reduction plan to meet 
the expectations of consumers and industry. Following the 
successful elimination of the preventative use of Category II 
antibiotics in 2018, during 2019 CFO supported CFC’s strategy 
development for dealing with Category III antibiotics. It is 
expected CFC will conclude a strategy by June 2020. 

CFO collaborated with the chick value chain during 2019 
to build chick supply capacity, capabilities, and overall 
performance. A special Board Working Group focused 
on optimizing chick results with Ontario’s hatcheries and 
the Ontario Broiler Hatching Egg and Chick Commission 
(OBHECC). Transparency along the chicken value chain, 
better understanding of results for all stakeholders, improved 
communications and collaborative problem solving all helped 
to improve Ontario’s production potential. 

Ontario chicken farmers follow high standards of animal 
care. Those standards of care include biosecurity protocols 
designed to protect animals from disease. Anyone entering 
barns or farms, handling animals or moving between barns 
without following proper biosecurity protocols puts the health 
of animals, the safety of food and the livelihood of farmers at 
risk. Throughout 2019, CFO has worked closely with Minister 
Hardeman, OMAFRA, and the Ontario government to advance 
a responsible approach to addressing safety and security 
concerns from increased activity of animal activists and 
trespassing on private property.

In 2019, CFO also worked alongside OBHECC and AOCP 
to develop a practical solution to effectively and humanely 
manage the mass euthanasia of chicken in emergency 
situations. The governments of Ontario and Canada have 

supported this initiative, committing up to $350,873  
in cost-share funding to CFO, under the Canadian  
Agricultural Partnership. 

CFO continued proactive advocacy and government 
relationship initiatives with Provincial and Federal Government 
politicians and staff, and the Chicken Farmers of Canada 
(CFC), to actively support our supply management system and 
its benefits for all Canadians. 

Through 2019, we intensified comprehensive political 
advocacy and government staff engagement to support 
mitigation of the impact of imports. Specifically, the Federal 
Government must be held accountable and execute on their 
trade mitigation commitments and improve outcomes.

In the area of trade risk, both the Comprehensive and Progressive 
Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) and the new Canada-United 
States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA) make fundamental changes 
to how imports are administered and grant increased access to 
our supply-managed domestic market. 
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4. Positive, Productive Relationships

We work together to do the right thing, the right 
way, and build value and trust.

We act according to our shared CFO values: 
leadership, accountability, excellence and 
collaboration.  

We believe that business-led collaboration is the most effective 
way to influence and manage change, to effectively deal 
with shared challenges and issues, and to create new shared 
business opportunities. 

We seek to better engage with Ontario farmer-members, 
processors, other industry value chain stakeholders and 
government, to collaboratively advance Ontario’s business 
performance for shared success. 

Throughout the year, CFO sought to improve its engagement 
with our farmer-members. Engaging constructively with our 
farmer-members to identify issues and opportunities, share 
perspectives, build understanding and commitment, and to 
develop solutions that meet our mutual interests, is our goal. 

We also continue to seek to find better ways to work for 
shared success with Ontario processors and other industry 
value chain stakeholders. Our goal is to better engage 
constructively with our industry to identify issues and 
opportunities, share perspectives, build understanding and 
commitment, and to develop solutions for shared success.

CFO operates in close 
alignment with Chicken 
Farmers of Canada (CFC) 
to provide responsible 
supply management system 
leadership and to ensure the 
system proactively evolves 
and delivers effective and 
efficient approaches which 
support the National and 
Ontario chicken industry 
reaching its full potential.

CFO actively collaborates with the national agency in 
responding to opportunities and issues that affect the chicken 
industry, ensuring consistency in messaging to both Provincial 
and Federal levels of government, and in ensuring that the 
supply management sector continues to evolve to support the 
wellbeing and economic interests of farmers, industry, and the 
Canadian public.

Supporting CFC is a major strategic, governance and 
operational commitment for us. We provide active support 
to the CFC Board and CFC Committees, as well as working to 
build strong Board and staff relationships.

5. Strong, Progressive Governance

It is a privilege to lead and steward our regulated 
chicken industry. 

We are committed to serve the public interest by 
ensuring the supply management system adapts to 
change, successfully evolves, delivers added value, 
and always acts with integrity.
As stewards of the supply management system and as industry 
self-regulators, we have a deep responsibility to be good 
governance, regulatory and fiduciary leaders and managers 
with high ethical standards.  We must continually foster 
and demonstrate integrity in an environment that is rapidly 
evolving and becoming increasingly complex. 

CFO aspires to operate and be recognized as a corporate 
governance leader that delivers effective, efficient and expert 
supply management system leadership and stewardship. 
During 2019, CFO worked to continually improve its 
governance and regulatory effectiveness through strategic 
focus, monitoring of risk, and by delivering solutions and 
services to our stakeholders. 

To enhance its accountability and effectiveness, each year 
the Board conducts an Annual Board Performance Evaluation 
which assesses the performance of the Board, individual 
Directors, the Board Chair, and Committees of the Board. 
2019 results have shaped our 2020 governance priorities and 
workplan. 

Moving forward, our governance, regulatory and fiduciary 
goals are to:

1. Deliver responsive, value-creating policy and regulations, 

2. Promote farming and industry growth, stability 
and sustainability through responsive, responsible 
regulatory oversight, 

3. Deliver effective compliance, supervision and enforcement, 

4. Be an accountable, effective and efficient organization. 

We work 
together 
to do the 
right thing, 
the right 
way, and 
build value 
and trust.
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NEXT LEVEL: A MODERN, 
RESPONSIBLE REGULATOR
We are challenging ourselves to deliver modern, 
responsible regulation that enables and supports 
the profitable, sustainable growth of family farms 
and a strong, successful chicken industry.

Are we doing our best for future generations?

As we consider value-creating options for the future, we need 
to remember the journey that created the supply management 
system we have today. Established in 1965, CFO, working 
together with farmer-members, industry stakeholders and 
the Ontario Farm Products Marketing Commission, has built 
a solid regulatory framework with strong levels of business 
performance, supported by effective regulatory compliance, 
supervision and enforcement.

Our regulatory focus has been one of successfully executing to,

1. strengthen the supply management system in Ontario and 
nationally, by ensuring it adapts to change, successfully 
evolves and delivers responsive regulation,  

2. produce results that will make a difference to the profitable 
growth, competitiveness, stability and sustainability of the 
National and Ontario chicken industry.

As a progressive supply management leader and steward, CFO 
must continually focus on achieving better outcomes. 

A TIME OF TRANSFORMATION
In addition to ensuring continued effective ongoing supervision 
and management of the regulated Ontario chicken industry, we 
have choices to make about our shared chicken future and the 
role we will play in shaping it.

CFO’s regulatory commitment to growth, quality, safety, 
efficiency, and reliability continues - as does our leadership for 
sustainability: how we think and act to create shared value, and 
by supporting collaborative solutions.

Moving forward, we have a clear regulatory transformation 
strategy to deliver value. CFO will step forward to demonstrate 
our leadership for regulatory reform in an increasingly 
complex, changing world with two key priorities: 

• Reduce regulatory burden
CFO will institute a rigorous, annual process to enable a 
thorough examination of policy, regulatory, by-law and 
guidance documents, data and filing requirements, and 
service standards to ensure that they are relevant, provide 
shared value, and to ensure that objectives are being 
achieved in a reasonable manner.

• Increase regulatory effectiveness
CFO will achieve its value-creating objectives through 
building industry and regulatory expertise, enhanced 
collaboration and transparency, efficient processes, use of 
technology, and enabling innovation. 

DRIVERS OF CHANGE
Our goal is to be responsive to the rapid pace of change 
in the overall protein and chicken marketplace. We must 
ensure that we understand and respond to the realities and 
needs of stakeholders. 

a. System Leadership and Stakeholder Engagement Value

Stakeholder engagement in the strategy, policy and regulatory 
process is vital as it helps to ensure regulatory requirements 
are relevant, practical and appropriate. 

Through farmer-member and industry value-chain stakeholder 
engagement including consultations to shape CFO’s Strategic 
Plan, as well as ongoing operations and specific issues 
management, District Committee Representative input, and 
Board Directors’ guidance, a number of regulatory themes, 
opportunities and challenges have been advanced. This input 
has informed the CFO Strategic Plan 2020-2022 strategies, 
key priorities and areas of focus, covering short, medium and 
longer-term timeframes. 

Strategic Plan 2020-2022 demonstrates CFO’s intent to 
regulate differently. It’s time to modernize our supply 
management regulatory system for the next generation.

b. Public Policy and Alignment Value

The Ontario Government is fostering a stronger environment 
for Ontario businesses and investors, themed “Open for 
Business”. This includes cutting red tape and reducing 
regulatory burden. The Government plans to systematically 
review Ontario’s stock of regulations, then streamline, 
modernize and eliminate unnecessarily complicated, outdated 
or duplicative regulations.

CFO has positioned itself and promoted that “We Take Care 
of Business” as a key supply management governance and 
business-facilitator strategy. CFO’s commitment to streamline 
regulatory requirements and processes (which will make it 
easier to participate in Ontario’s chicken industry) supports 
the Ontario Government’s ambition.

c. Transparency and Accountability for Our 
Performance

We strive to be an effective, progressive and responsible 
regulator by routinely monitoring and evaluating our 
performance - for its leadership, quality, integrity and 
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NEXT LEVEL: WE SYSTEMATICALLY 
CREATE SUSTAINABLE VALUE
We are committed to advancing sustainable, high quality chicken agriculture and working 
to enable Ontario chicken farmers to earn a good living, now and for future generations.

2020 STRATEGY AND ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN 
2020 will bring both challenge and opportunity. 

We are focusing on growing with our farmer-members and customers in high growth markets with consumer-preferred 
products, supported by integrated production and marketing solutions. We will continually challenge ourselves to 
optimally use our resources to deliver the best for our farmer-members, customers, the industry value-chain, and the 
Ontario economy. 

We strive to partner for shared success. 

sustainability; the effectiveness and efficiency of regulatory 
functions and processes; by employing highly professional 
and qualified staff; and continuously strengthening 
Board governance. 

We are focused on regulatory value-creation, being 
collaborative, fair-minded, professional and acting without bias.

In support of our commitment to be transparent and 
accountable, CFO will continue the annual disclosure of our 

key priorities for the coming fiscal year (2020), and report on our 
actions and progress throughout the year, internally and externally. 

We seek to continuously improve the clarity of our reporting, 
consultations and collaboration. CFO maintains regular 
dialogue with stakeholders through its stakeholder engagement 
programs, directed towards ensuring mutual understanding of 
objectives, actions and outcomes. 

2020 OPERATING GOALS
1. Achieve profitable, sustainable growth;

2. Be recognized as a supply management system leader 
in corporate governance and business development;

3. Deliver modern, responsible regulation that 
reduces regulatory burden and increases regulatory 
effectiveness, while keeping costs as low as 
reasonably possible;

4. Design Strategic Plan 2020-2022 to be responsive to 
the rapid pace of change in the overall protein and 
chicken marketplace;

5. Continually improve production results, while 
practicing and leading animal care and food  
safety initiatives;

6. Engage with stakeholders and build collaborative 
relationships that achieve shared outcomes, build 
confidence and create trust;

7. Build strong organizational capabilities and capacity: 
people, technology, information and service 
commitment.

 2020 TOP 10 PRIORITIES 
1. a. Pricing and COPF 

b. Market Demand & Production Allocation

2. Modern, Responsible Regulations

3. CFO Strategic Plan 2020-2022

4. Data and Analytics

5. 100% Production Performance 

6. Animal Care & Food Safety:  
a) AMU Reduction & Stewardship 
b) Disease Management 
c) Pathogen Reduction  
d) Continually Improve Practice & Standards

7. Broiler Supply Chain Optimization: Chick,  
Feed, Vet. Services

8. Venturing New Growth Programs

9. Organization Foundation: People, Technology, 
Information, Service Commitment 

10. Governance & Leadership:  
a)Support CFC Strategic Plan 2019-2023 
b)Diversity & Inclusion 
c)CFO Cares  
d)Community Engagement
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NEXT LEVEL: 
GREAT PEOPLE
We know that the success of the chicken 
industry rests on the inherent skills, motivation 
and engagement of our talented people, and 
by supporting them in being the very best 
professionals that they can be.

People make the difference.
Our success is fundamentally based on our CFO team 
members’ sense of responsibility, professionalism, focus on 
finding solutions, and providing excellent service. 

Having highly engaged colleagues is essential to our culture 
and to achieving our Mission. At CFO, we embrace diverse 
perspectives and empower our staff-associates to improve our 
organization, to help us innovate, and to continuously improve 
our workplace. 

Our 2019 staff-associate engagement survey results show 
Engagement at 67% - at norm with industry comparators, with 
Enablement at 77% - above norm and above high performing 
comparators. Results also demonstrate a healthy CFO work 
environment, staff aligned with strategy, caring for employees, 
and promoting diversity.

During 2019, CFO invested in the development and wellbeing 
of our Board Directors, District Committee Representatives, 
and staff-associates. We value, challenge, recognize and reward 
our people. We are fostering a culture of professionalism, 
quality, responsibility, agility and decision-making through 
personal and team development focused on excellence in,

• Regulatory, commercial and technical capabilities, 

• Leadership, 

• Communications. 

At CFO, we are committed to maintaining supportive 
and enriching environments in which our Board, District 
Committee Representatives and staff-associates can thrive 
and succeed.

NEXT LEVEL:  
SHAPING OUR FUTURE
All success is derived through priority: knowing 
what matters most, marshalling limited resources 
to their best use, and achieving better outcomes, 
consistently.
We are evolving our strategy to deliver sustainable 
growth and value creation.

We have a great business today and we are well positioned 
for future success. We see great potential in both the chicken 
market and our industry, and for each of our business 
segments - Core, Specialty, and Community. At the same 
time, we recognize we must successfully navigate an evolving 
business operating environment. We are managing CFO for 
long-term value creation.

We believe we have a winning strategy and business model. 
At the same time, we are challenging ourselves, from first 
principles, “why we do, what we do”. We seek to better 
leverage our strategic, regulatory and operational initiatives to 
build and further enhance a growing, sustainable business. 

CFO continues to work closely with the Ontario Farm 
Products Marketing Commission to strengthen the system 
and to collaboratively advance strategies and manage issues 
relevant to the Ontario chicken industry. We are grateful for 
the Commission’s leadership and support. As a partner, we will 
continue to work together to advance Ontario’s interest in the 
national regulated marketing system. 

We would also like to personally thank all Board Directors, 
District Committee Representatives, and CFO staff-associates 
for their dedication and hard work in 2019. As a result of 
their passion and energy, CFO has operated as a strong and 
progressive supply management leader within the Ontario and 
Canadian industry.  

We look forward to working with our Board team, our DCRs, 
our staff-associates, our farmers, our industry and our 
government to further advance the Ontario chicken 
industry in 2020. 

Thank you for your trust, confidence and support.

Ed & Rob

Ed Benjamins,  
Chair

Rob Dougans,  
President & CEO 
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The Fotheringham family, 
District 8 farmer-members 
from Palmerston, Ontario
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EXECUTING OUR 
2019 PLAYBOOK

2019 STRATEGIC AND  
OPERATING OBJECTIVES

1. Achieve 2019 growth and financial targets

2. Continue to build the current and long term health 
of the business behind clearly defined strategies

3. Positively impact production results and champion  
good agricultural practices

4. Actively build new businesses with focus on CFO 
strategic business segments and differential growth

5. Engage with stakeholders and build strong, productive 
relationships that achieve outcomes, build confidence 
and create trust

6. Continue to build a significantly  
stronger organization

7. Improve cost and asset management

8. Improve and/or maintain best practice  
corporate governance

Executing Our 2019 Playbook
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2019 KEY INITIATIVES
1. Pricing and COPF 2019

2. Market demand & production allocation

3. 100% production performance

4. Animal health & welfare: AMU 
reduction & stewardship

5. Animal health & welfare: disease management

6. Chick supply chain optimization

7. Ontario Innovation and Growth program

8. Chicken Farmers of Canada (CFC) 
support strategic plan 2019-2023

9. CFO governance—strategic plan 2019-2021

10. Critical issues management

• Sustainability—pricing and COPF

• Growth—trade: increased imports

• Growth—evolving consumer and customer 
interests and expectations

• Collaboration—CFC and provincial boards 
alignment and performance

• Change management—preparing for  
industry change

CFO’S CHICK  
WORKING GROUP
CFO’s Chick Working Group (CWG), pictured above, 
was developed in 2018 to collaborate with hatcheries and the 
Ontario Broiler Hatching Egg & Chick Commission (OBHECC) 
to find collaborative ways to continually improve the 
performance of chicks.

The CWG has made some promising progress towards 
solutions for enhanced industry collaboration, more consistent 
chick performance and increased production transparency.

Members of the CFO CWG include Adrian Rehorst, Board 
Director, District 1, Tom Beischlag, Board Director, District 4, 
Scott Buchan, District 8 Committee Representative,  
Greg Leis, District 8 Committee Representative and  
supported by Dr. Gwen Zellen, VP, Quality, Technical  
Affairs and Sustainability and Dr. Gbenga Alade, Manager, 
Veterinary Services.
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Board of Directors

Board of 
directors

1
4

5
7
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DISTRICT 1
Adrian Rehorst  
Teeswater, ON

DISTRICT 2 
Rick Kaptein 
Clinton, ON

DISTRICT 3
Brian Lewis 
2nd Vice-Chair 
Lucan, ON

DISTRICT 4 
Tom Beischlag 
 Hagersville, ON

DISTRICT 5
Jordan Fois 
Wellandport, ON

DISTRICT 6
Murray Opsteen 
1st Vice-Chair 
Flamborough, ON

DISTRICT 7 
Ed Benjamins 
Chair 
Moorefield, ON 

DISTRICT 8 
Mark Hermann  
Cambridge, ON

DISTRICT 9 
Tim Klompmaker  
Norwood, ON

2

3

6
8

9
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Good Governance

Good Governance
We are committed to strong and sustainable governance which 
promotes the long-term interests of our farmer-members, 
consumers, the Ontario chicken industry, strengthens Board 
and Management accountability, and helps build confidence 
and trust in the supply management system and Chicken 
Farmers of Ontario. 

Good governance concerns both the effectiveness and 
accountability of the Board of Directors. Effectiveness, and 
therefore the quality of leadership and the direction the Board 
provides, is measured by performance.

For CFO, performance is threefold: 

• Firstly, the Board is responsible for ensuring that CFO 
fulfills its supply management mandate and obligations 
under the Farm Products Marketing Act and the Federal-
Provincial Agreement, while acting in accordance with the 
Ontario Chicken Producers Marketing Plan.

• Secondly, the Board is responsible for achieving results as 
defined by CFO’s Strategic Plan, and through successful 
execution of the CFO Playbook.

• Thirdly, as stewards of the supply management system 
and as industry self-regulators, the Board has a deep 
responsibility to be a corporate governance, regulatory and 
fiduciary leader and steward, and always operate with high 
ethical standards.

CFO’s Core Values and Corporate Governance Principles 
support this commitment. They guide the way we think and 
work, each and every day. Even as the business environment 
continues to evolve and change, we remain focused on our 
values and principles.

2019 HIGHLIGHTS
Board Performance and Effectiveness

• Annual Board 2019 performance evaluation: Board, 
individual Director, Board Chair and Committees of the 
Board, led by a third-party governance facilitator

• Annual review of Board Committees: objectives, work plans 
and achievements

• Board governance 2019 workplan focused on improving 
overall effectiveness, performance and processes based on 
the Board 2018 evaluation results. Progress was monitored 
by the Governance & Leadership Committee (G&L) 

• 10 regular Board meetings in 2019 (1.5 days per meeting) 
and 25 special Board meetings with Director attendance 
over 95%

• 4 Board performance workshops: strategy, policy and 
governance

• Individual Directors completed a range of best practices 
education and training courses

District Committee Representatives
• 4 District Committee Representative (DCR) meetings, 

including 2 policy development workshops

• Orientation and training of 4 new DCRs

• Increased DCR participation in CFO Working Groups: Chick 
Supply, Communications and CFO Cares

Stakeholder Engagement
• Annual publications: 2019 Annual Performance Report

• Farmer-member engagement including District meetings, 
18 Regional meetings (April, July and October), National 
Poultry Show, direct consultation sessions, and delivering a 
comprehensive communication program

• Industry value chain engagement through direct dialogue 
with stakeholder organizations and specific organizations, 
Summer and Fall Industry Insight forums

Strategic Planning
• Commencement of a disciplined process for Strategic Plan 

2020-2022 development

Risk Management
• Strategic risk oversight by the Governance & Leadership 

Committee (G&L), and the Board

Corporate Social Responsibility
• CFO Cares supported Ontario food banks with 1.7 million 

chicken meals

• 6 Women in Leadership events driving awareness and 
participation 

Communications
• Continually improving ontariochicken.ca website 

functionality and content 

• Enhanced transparency in our policies, processes and 
communications

• High levels of timely and accurate communications
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Committee Reports

Committee Reports
AUDIT & INFORMATION  
TECHNOLOGY 
COMMITTEE (AITC)

Key Objective: Assist the Board with strategies, policy, and 
regulation development, and oversight role with respect to the 
organization’s financial and technology governance.

Committee Chair: Mark Hermann, District 8 Board Director

2019 Committee Members: 
Murray Opsteen, District 6 Board Director 
Brian Lewis, District 3 Board Director

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES/HIGHLIGHTS: 

• No errors or omission noted by Deloitte Independent 
Auditor’s Report 2019 Financial Statements

• Updated and maintained CFO covenants

• Oversight of IT risk profile, IT resources and key projects

• Assessment and review of CFO digital  
technical ecosystem 

• Oversight of adequacy of CFO insurance programs

• Implemented new finance dashboards 

• Successful upgrade of SAP platform  

CFC & EXTERNAL 
RELATIONS  
COMMITTEE (CERC)

Key Objective: Build positive, productive relationships with 
CFO partners and industry value chain stakeholders. 

Committee Chair: Ed Benjamins, District 7 Board Director

2019 Committee Members:
Tim Klompmaker, District 9 Board Director 
Rick Kaptein, District 2 Board Director 
Rob Dougans, President & CEO

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES/HIGHLIGHTS: 

• Steered national allocations towards moderate growth to 
meet changing market conditions

• Achieved allocation growth of 1.8% over adjusted base 
nationally (2.2% for Ontario)

• Ontario representation on key CFC committees:

• Executive, Governance, Policy, Production

• Influenced national system leadership  

• Worked with and supported CFC on the trade file

• Successfully reduced AMU

• Collaborated with CFC staff teams across most  
functions and levels

• Canadian Poultry Research Council (CPRC) leadership  

• National Chicken Farmers Alliance



PRODUCTION 
COMMITTEE (PC)

Key Objective: Assist the Board with its strategies, policy 
and regulation development and oversight role with respect 
to objectives to primarily deliver on CFO’s strategy to: 
Drive, Facilitate and Support World-Class, Sustainable 
Farming Operations.

Committee Chair: Adrian Rehorst, District 1 Board Director

2019 Committee Members:
Tom Beischlag, District 4 Board Director
Rick Kaptein, District 2 Board Director
Jordan Fois, District 5 Board Director

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES/HIGHLIGHTS: 

Responsible, Sustainable Production
• AMU monitoring, reporting, compliance & readiness 

for the elimination of preventive use of Category III

• 100% Production Reliability project scope development 
and Phase I analysis

• Audit innovations and standard measurement

Effective Risk Management
• Industry emergency depopulation solution,  

funding and service

• Mortality reporting, compliance and disease monitoring

• Pathogen reduction surveillance

• Issues management: condemnations, thinning,  
alternate bedding

• Feather Board Command Centre – industry collaboration

Positive, Productive Relationships
• Advocacy and support to CFC staff,  

Production Committee & Board (key priorities)

• AMU reduction strategy 

• Pathogen reduction

• Animal care: supply chain audits,  
standards (free-range), incident response protocol

• Organic standards

• Barn cleaning requirements

• Canadian Poultry Research Council (CPRC) 
Research Priorities

GOVERNANCE 
& LEADERSHIP 
COMMITTEE (G&L)

Key Objective: Assist the Board with its strategic,  
policy and regulatory development and oversight. 

Committee Chair: Murray Opsteen,  
1st Vice-Chair, District 6 Board Director 

2019 Committee Members:
Ed Benjamins, District 7 Board Director 
Brian Lewis, 2nd Vice-Chair, District 3 Board Director 
Rob Dougans, President & CEO

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES/HIGHLIGHTS: 
Board Performance and Effectiveness

• Annual Board Performance Evaluation

• Annual review of Board Committees; workplans 
and performance

• Oversight of 2019 Board governance workplan 

• Stewardship of the CFO Governance Charter

Strategy
• Oversight of progress of key 2019 strategic initiatives

• Development of the Strategic Plan 2020-2022 process

Talent and Succession
• Director and District Committee Representative (DCR) 

elections, Districts 6-9

• Board and individual Director education and training 

• Director remuneration

• DCR engagement and alignment programs

• DCR education and training programs

• New DCR orientation

• President and CEO annual performance

• President and CEO remuneration

• President and CEO succession plan

Stakeholder Relations and Communications
• Focus and continually improve the effectiveness 

of CFO programs

• CFO Brand strength and strategic evolution

Corporate Social Responsibility
• CFO Cares plans and outcomes

• CFO Women in Leadership initiative 
plans and outcomes

Terms of Reference: For the full terms of reference and Charters of all Committees of the CFO Board of Directors, 
visit ontariochicken.ca/GoodGovernance/ResponsibleLeadership/BoardCommittees.
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CHICKEN INDUSTRY  
ADVISORY COMMITTEE (CIAC)
The Chicken Industry Advisory Committee (CIAC) assists the 
Board with its strategies, policy, and regulation development 
with respect to the Ontario chicken industry’s growth, 
competitiveness and sustainability. CIAC met once in 2019 
and has plans to move forward with quarterly meetings in 
2020. Committee members include Ed Benjamins, District 7 
Board Director & CFO Chair, Murray Opsteen, District 6 Board 
Director & CFO 1st Vice-Chair, Rob Dougans, CFO President 
& CEO and staff-lead Aseema Singh, CFO’s VP of Strategy and 
Business Development. CIAC is Chaired by the Ontario Farm 
Products Marketing Commission. 

From Left to Right:
Pat Shanahan Director,  
Community Business Development & Corporate Services
Kathryn Goodish Senior Director, 
Communications & Stakeholder Relations
Rob Boyko Vice President, Operations
Rob Dougans President & CEO

Aseema Singh Vice President,  
Strategy & Business Development
Jason Tsoukas General Counsel 
Dr. Gwen Zellen Vice President, Quality,  
Technical Affairs & Sustainability
Carol Danchuk Interim Senior Director of Finance

MEET THE CFO SENIOR  
LEADERSHIP TEAM
We recognize that our reputation and the trust that  
farmer-members, industry stakeholders and government 
place in CFO depends on how we conduct ourselves every 
day – and the results we achieve. To achieve our goals, we 
rely on the inherent skills, motivation and engagement 
of our staff-associates but also the unity, integrity and 
compassion of our leaders.

CFO’s Senior Leadership Team is committed to providing a 
professional environment that fosters opportunities for staff-
associates to perform, create value and provide quality service 
to our farmer-members and stakeholders. The expertise, 
adaptability, dedication and experience of all CFO  
staff-associates underpin our success and are our most 
important business asset. 
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district committee  
representatives

Bryan Fieldhouse 
Chair 

Jeff Burgsma 
Chair 

John Gras (in remembrance)
Chair

Henk Lise  
Chair

Brian Atkinson 
Secretary 

Mark Den Hollander 
Secretary 

Carolyn Cornelissen 
Secretary

Darren Kraay

Derek Detzler

Ralph Deweerd

Jason Devet

Bruce Van der Molen

Krista Lansink

Marius Hol

Gord Howe

Don Poelman

Ed McKinlay

One of the Board’s most important 
stakeholder relationships is with its District 
Committee Representatives (DCRs). The 
farmer-elected DCRs are elected under 
the Ontario Chicken Plan and have the 
primary function of acting in a consultative 
capacity with the Board of Directors and 
with the farmer-members within their 
Districts. DCRs help engage farmers in 
their Districts to ensure they are aware of 
the latest CFO information and services.

John Kikkert
Chair

Melissa Devries Pete Koroneos

District Committee Representatives
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MEET THE DCRs
Visit the CFO YouTube  
channel today!

John Opsteen 
Chair

Alfred Rumph
Chair

Scott Buchan 
Chair

Michael Heuving 
Chair

Paul Arva

Dave Vandenberg
Secretary

Greg Leis
Secretary

Marc Bourdon

Gary Everts

Doug Duimering

Steve DeVries

Hubert Schillings

Al Hiddema

Wendy Lantz

Martin Van Zandwyk

Ken Levy

To contact a member of the DCR Team, please 
e-mail any member listed in the following format: 
firstname.lastname@ontariochicken.ca
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CFO DCRs meet with the 
Honourable Ernie Hardeman 
at Queen's Park
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CAROLYN CORNELISSEN
District 3

Carolyn Cornelissen is not only an active chicken farmer, running Cornelissen 
Farms Inc. and Twin Creeks Greenhouse with her family in Lambton County, 
she’s also very active in her role as District 3 DCR, in the CFO Women in 
Leadership Initiative and in the CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks program. 
Carolyn enjoys investing her time and knowledge to help continue to build 
a strong industry for future generations, whether that be supporting and 
encouraging other female chicken farmers to grow their involvement in the 
industry, giving back to those in need in her community, or being an advocate 
for fellow District 3 farmer-members. You can read more about Carolyn’s 
accomplishments in the October 2019 article on The Poultry Site: “Women in 
Poultry: Carolyn Cornelissen.”

MARIUS HOL
District 2

Marius Hol and his family first entered the chicken industry through the CFO New 
Entrant Chicken Farmer Program in 2014. As a passionate chicken farmer in the 
Goderich area, Marius was interested in sharing his knowledge, meeting with chicken 
farmers across the province, advocating for supply management, and being a voice 
for his fellow farmers in District 2, ultimately becoming a DCR in 2019. 

DEREK DETZLER
District 1

Derek Detzler, DCR for District 1, manages his family’s chicken farm in the 
Walkerton area, while simultaneously maintaining a position as Executive 
Director of Trillium Hatchery and providing global technical service to a poultry 
nutrition company. Derek has been an advocate for responsible antibiotic use. 
As a DCR, Derek’s passion for chicken farming makes him an excellent lead and 
support for his fellow chicken farmers in District 1.

District Committee Representatives—Leadership Profiles

district committee 
representatives
LEADERSHIP PROFILES

Meet just a few of the CFO DCRs below and learn about  
their many contributions to the industry:
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DARREN KRAAY
District 4 

Farming alongside his wife and three children, Darren Kraay is heavily involved 
both in the chicken industry and in his community. Not only a District 
Committee Representative for District 4, Darren is also involved in the CFO 
Cares: Farmers to Food Banks Working Group. In Darren’s words, he has found 
that the best way to learn about the industry and represent the chicken farmers 
in his district is to be hands-on, meeting regularly with farmer-members, fellow 
DCRs, and CFO Board Directors.

PETE KORONEOS
District 5

As a multi-generational chicken farmer, poultry farming is in Pete Koroneos’ 
blood. When on-farm, Pete enjoys raising chickens and growing crops with the 
help of his family. When off-farm, Pete can be found offering his vast poultry 
industry experience and knowledge in both his role as District Committee 
Representative for District 5 farmer-members and as a valued member of the 
DCR Communications Working Group. Pete is also an Appointed Member of 
the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs Appeals Tribunal, 
and regularly volunteers in multiple community-oriented organizations in the 
Niagara Region. As part of his agricultural-related positions, Pete often meets 
with the farmer-members in his community in order to better advocate for their 
agricultural requirements.
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WENDY LANTZ 
District 8

Wendy is a proven leader in both her poultry business and her local farming 
community in her role as DCR for District 8. As one of four female DCRs, Wendy 
has a strong focus on encouraging more women to become active within the 
farming community — a role she accomplishes through planning events that 
provide the opportunity to learn, interact and build relationships with one 
another. In addition to chicken farming, Wendy works off-farm as a social 
worker in her community. More information about Wendy’s involvement  
both on and off the farm can be found in the May 2019 article on The Poultry 
Site – “Women in Poultry: Wendy Lantz”. 

MARC BOURDON
District 9

A passionate broiler and egg farmer in Eastern Ontario, Marc and his family 
have been raising their flocks with dedication and care for numerous years. In 
addition to poultry farming, Marc, his daughter Melissa and son in law Andrew 
also operate a family-run grain crop farm, grain elevator and feed mill called 
Bourdon Feed & Grain Inc. 

In keeping their farming operations running smoothly, Marc leads and advocates on 
behalf of the Ontario eastern-region chicken farmer-members as District 9 DCR.

ALFRED RUMPH
District 7

As both a long-time chicken farmer and a long-time District Committee 
Representative, Alfred Rumph is very active in both the industry and his 
community and strives to find ways to continue to improve poultry agriculture 
across Ontario. Alfred is passionate about giving back to those in need, and 
participates in the CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks program as both a donor 
and a member of the CFO Cares Working Group.

JOHN OPSTEEN
District 6

Having grown up on a family chicken farm, John Opsteen is a life-long poultry 
farmer who now runs his own farming operation in District 6. When he’s not 
busy on the farm, John can be found attending to the needs of the agricultural 
community and working on behalf of the farmer-members in his District. 
John is also a member of the DCR Communications Working Group, through 
which he provides invaluable input in helping ensure farmer-members receive 
communications tailored to their needs.   
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Farm & Food Care Registered Dietitians Farm Tour

REGISTERED DIETITIANS 
FARM TOUR
In October 2019, CFO joined CFC in participating in Farm & 
Food Care Ontario’s annual Registered Dietitians (RD) Farm 
Tour, helping to provide dietitians with direct access to  
local farms and the chance to see how food is grown 
across the province. 

As part of this past year’s tour, the group visited the Devries 
family chicken farm, where Melissa Devries — a CFO 
farmer-member and a farmer-elected District Committee 
Representative from District 5 — and her family provided a 
tour of their broiler chicken operation. 

In Melissa’s words, “My family and I were grateful for the 
opportunity to host Registered Dietitians on our farm. We love 
sharing our passion for raising our chickens and demonstrating 
the level of care that all chicken farmers across the province 
show while raising their flocks.”

The Registered Dietitians tour is an excellent opportunity for 
dietitians to gain first-hand insight into various aspects of the 
food chain to which they would otherwise not have access. 
CFO looks forward to continued collaboration with Farm & 
Food Care in future RD tours. Melissa Devries, CFO Farmer-Member and DCR for District 5  

takes Registered Dietitians on a tour of her family farm.



Honouring John Maaskant

June 9, 2019 marked John Maaskant's official induction into 
the Ontario Agricultural Hall of Fame.

CFO nominated John Maaskant in recognition of his lifetime of 
contributions to Ontario’s chicken industry and his many years 
of service with Chicken Farmers of Ontario.

John began his farming career at the age of 16 and has 
been extensively involved in many agricultural organizations, 
including serving as:

• Chair of Chicken Farmers of Ontario (1992-1995)

• Chair of the Ontario Farm Animal Council (2003-2011)

• Chair of Farm & Food Care Ontario (2012-2016) 

• He served as CFO’s Board Director for District 2—Huron 
County—for over 25 years 

• John represented his home district of Huron County as 
a CFO District Committee Representative for 15 years, 
starting in 1974 

The 1980s and 1990s were a formative period in Canadian 
agricultural history in which John played an important role. 
The striking of free trade agreements such as CUSTA and 
NAFTA and the creation of the World Trade Organization 
posed the most significant challenge to Canada’s broiler 
industry since the interprovincial challenges of the 1960s.

John was instrumental in navigating the  
subsequent uncertainty.

In 1994, John participated in a sector-wide fact-finding 
mission, which resulted in a tarification system that is a central 
tenet of Canadian supply management as we know it today. It 
was later adopted by the federal government for sectors other 
than the broiler industry and has formed the basis of import 
protection ever since.

John helped agriculture 
in Ontario find its voice!

John is a lifelong champion of supply management and 
through his passion and leadership, the industry has been able 
to secure critical buy-in across sectors and rally government 
and consumer support for supply management.

Honouring John Maaskant
INDUCTION INTO THE ONTARIO AGRICULTURAL HALL OF FAME

John at his induction ceremony with fellow champions of supply management. 
Pictured left to right is District 4 Board Director, Tom Beischlag; former District 8 
Board Director, Ed Verkley; District 2 Board Director, Rick Kaptein; John Maaskant, 
Inductee; Murray Booy, former CFO Board Chair; Henry Zantingh, former CFO Board 
Chair and Fred Lewis, former District 3 Board Director 
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NEW ENTRANT CHICKEN 
FARMER PROGRAM
The CFO New Entrant Chicken Farmer Program helps 
qualified new farmers enter the growing chicken 
business and provides education, training and 
mentorship to guide a successful transition for new 
businesses. Since the program’s inception, twenty-four 
family-run chicken farms have joined the industry 
through the program, including the five successful 
applicants welcomed into the program in 2019!

As the industry continues to grow, the New Entrant 
Chicken Farmer Program is one way for the Board to 
encourage and support new entrepreneurial farmers to 
enter the industry. CFO welcomes applications for this 
innovative program on an annual basis, and farmers 
looking to start a chicken business are encouraged to 
visit ontariochicken.ca for full program details.

The Elliott family, New Entrant and 
RWA chicken farmers from Ripley, Ontario



LIZ MILLWARD
Analyst, Production Logistics

Liz Millward — CFO’s Analyst, Production Logistics — is a long-time employee 
of CFO and has been a consistently friendly face for both farmer-members and 
processors alike. In her role, Liz is not only involved in contract-management 
and generating the allotment, but regularly innovates to find ways to further 
optimize the allotment processes. Liz helps farmer-members understand the 
impact of any potential contract changes, and they can be rest-assured that they 
are getting expert service through Liz on their allotment inquiries. 

Liz has been an employee with CFO for 33 years. Liz is always happy to speak 
with farmer-members and processors, and can be contacted by emailing 
liz.millward@ontariochicken.ca.

Providing Sustainable, High Quality Chicken for Ontario Consumers

Providing sustainable, 
high quality chicken  
for Ontario consumers 

Meet
part of the

team!

With chicken consumption on the rise, CFO welcomed 42 new farming 
families into the industry. In addition to new farmers, there was also a 
notable increase in barn construction across the province. 2019 saw the 
construction of 116 new chicken barns - this includes new quota holders 
who entered the business and existing quota holders who were looking to 
expand and / or innovate their operation. 

The Core Business Segment also achieved significant growth in the distinct 
Raised Without Antibiotics (RWA) market.

CORE BUSINESS SEGMENT 

In 2019, we capitalized on positive market conditions and CFO’s Core 
Business Segment continued to grow. The long-term growth projection 
for chicken remains healthy and positive. Chicken is expected to remain 
the meat protein of choice and to continue growing at a moderate  
pace — even as alternate proteins grow in popularity.
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SPECIALTY BUSINESS SEGMENT— 
A GROWING BUSINESS, TO MEET 
NEW AND EMERGING MARKETS
In 2019, CFO’s Specialty Business Segment continued to grow. 
Committed to expanding and accelerating distinct consumer 
markets, key performance highlights were as follows:

• With over 50 family-run farms and three 
primary processors, Organic is the fastest 
growing specialty business segment

• CFO worked with Chicken Farmers of Canada 
and industry stakeholders to coordinate 
submissions to the Canadian General Standards 

Board (CGSB), in an effort to mitigate risk to the organic 
market and ensure that that production methods of organic 
producers were being properly represented

• CFO’s Specialty Breeds Chicken program 
saw an increase in new farmers entering the 
business (25 Specialty Breed farmers as 
of Dec 31, 2019)

• New retail outlets using the Specialty 
Breeds Chicken brand increased points of 

distribution and brought about further market exposure 
(82 retail outlets using the brand as of Dec 31, 2019) 

• New breed, Loong Kong TC, was introduced in Ontario  
in order to meet projected niche demand

• Market assessment resulted in a data-based understanding 
of current industry trends and reaffirmed brand health

This business segment also includes Kosher and Halal   
market segments. 

CFO is committed to serving the needs of Ontario consumers 
who demand safe, fresh, high quality, locally-grown chicken. 

QING YING HUANG
Specialist, Specialty Breeds and Market Development

Since 2015, Qing Ying Huang has been dedicated to developing and growing the Specialty 
Breeds chicken market in her role as Market Development Specialist. As part of her role, 
Qing Ying supports specialty breeds farmers through sector management, including 
identifying distribution channel opportunities, maintaining production plans and market 
forecasts, facilitating sustainable wholesale & retail pricing, managing retailer 
and distributor relationships, and monitoring retail brand performance. 

Employing her strength at identifying growth opportunities and managing the value 
chain to connect supply and demand, together with her other vast experiences 
in business operations, Qing Ying continues her endeavour to further grow the 
Specialty Breeds industry and support all its farmers. 

You can contact Qing Ying via email at qingying.huang@ontariochicken.ca. 

Meet
part of the

team!

CFO is committed to 
serving the needs of 
Ontario consumers 
who demand safe, 
fresh, high quality,  
locally-grown chicken. 

INAUGURAL SPECIALTY 
BREEDS WORKSHOP
On November 22, 2019, CFO hosted Specialty Breeds chicken 
farmers from across the province at the first Specialty Breeds 
Workshop specifically designed for farmers in this program. 

The workshop provided an opportunity for specialty breeds 
farmers to join together for a productive day of networking, 
learning and sharing of best practices. Highlights included 
an informative session on brooding best practices by 
Dr. Scott Gillingham, poultry veterinarian; insights from  
the British Columbia Marketing Board specialty breeds farming 
experience; and information and findings from a recent CFO 
Specialty Breeds Chicken program market survey.

As the Specialty Breeds Chicken program continues to 
expand and grow, this workshop is one of many ways that 
CFO continues to develop the business segment to stay 
relevant in an ever-evolving market. 
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FAMILY FOOD
Since 2010, the CFO Family Food program ensures that non-commercial 
and small-flock growers that raise less than 300 birds annually have access to 
information that promotes bird health and disease management, including 
educational and communication resources.  

Registration through the CFO Family Food program is an important aspect 
of CFO’s emergency management plan, as it provides industry the ability to 
quickly and efficiently identify small-flock farm locations in the event of 
disease outbreaks.

ARTISANAL CHICKEN
The first-of-its-kind in Canada, the Artisanal Chicken program was created 
with small-scale farmers and consumer interests in mind. In 2019, more 
than 150 farmers were Board-approved for the program. These innovative 
and entrepreneurial Artisanal chicken farmers are licensed to raise between 
600-3,000 birds per year, which they then market to targeted consumer groups, 
offering consumers the option to purchase local craft, premium chicken. 

As part of the program, Artisanal chicken farmers have access to CFO 
educational and technical services, as well as access to supporting staff and 
networking opportunities within the farming communities. Artisanal chicken 
farmers are required to demonstrate compliance with all aspects of the 
On-Farm Food Safety Program (OFFSP) and the Animal Care Program (ACP). 
These farmers are also audited on an annual basis.

LOCAL NICHE MARKETS
Intended to support targeted niche markets in Ontario that are looking for new 
ways to access larger volumes of locally-grown chicken, the CFO Local Niche 
Markets program allows participating farmers to grow between 6,000 – 60,000 
chickens per year. Through the program, these smaller-scale commercial 
farmers have access to more growing options and are able to target well 
defined, discrete and distinct local markets through geographic identification, 
marketing channels, products, brands and/or business approaches. 

Community Programs
COMMITTED TO CRAFTSMANSHIP

CFO offers a suite of Community Programs that both reduces traditional 
barriers to entry into chicken farming and provides consumers with 
even more access to Premium Ontario Chicken through local food and 
seasonal markets. With the Artisanal Chicken program, the Family Food 
program, and the Local Niche Markets program, smaller-scale chicken 
farmers have more ability than ever to access unique growing options, 
expanded market opportunities and diversified industry growth.

Community Programs—Committed to Craftsmanship
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CFO is creating  
options for  
smaller scale  
and new  
participants  
to join the  
chicken industry.

ENCOURAGING   
CHICKEN FARMING  
IN NORTHERN ONTARIO
In partnership with OMAFRA, CFO hosted a series of workshops 
across northern Ontario in July 2019. The workshops provided 
an opportunity for farmers currently raising small flocks, or 
families interested in starting a chicken farm, to network and 
learn more about the chicken business and CFO’s Artisanal 
Chicken program. 

These Northern Ontario poultry workshops are just one way that 
CFO is creating options for smaller scale and new participants 
to join the chicken industry. By attending a workshop, interested 
farmers were able to develop an understanding of animal care 
best practices, regulations, and requirements for growing 
high quality, nutritious chicken in Ontario. 

Powassan

Azilda

Desbarats

Val Gagné

Northern Ontario Farms

Northern Tour Workshop Locations
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CARL STEVENSON
Manager, Community Programs Operation  
& Flock Advisor 

Carl is an integral part of both CFO’s Farming Operations Team 
and Community Programs Team in his role as Manager, Community 
Programs Operation & Flock Advisor. Artisanal chicken farmers are  
likely to recognize Carl’s name thanks to his dedication in maintaining 
numerous Artisanal communication channels, participating in  
workshops and programs, and auditing farms in order to provide 
valuable education and training that supports best-in-class flock 
development and marketing. 

Carl has been with CFO since 2007. To speak with Carl, send him 
an email at carl.stevenson@ontariochicken.ca.

CONTINUOUS LEARNING   
OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
ARTISANAL CHICKEN FARMERS
To support Artisanal Chicken Farmers in achieving their 
operational and marketing goals, CFO offers training 
and education opportunities through annual Artisanal 
Community Workshops. 

In the spring of 2019, CFO hosted over 70 artisanal 
chicken farmers at a series of workshops in Peterborough, 
Woodstock, Kemptville, Mount Forest and Sudbury. 
Attendees were able to hear from guest speakers on 
pertinent industry topics—including presentations on 
Early Chick Performance, Spring Brooding and Poultry 
Nutrition by Dr. Scott Gillingham, Poultry Veterinarian; 
and Implementing Best-in-Class Animal Care by Dr. Mike 
Petrik, Poultry Veterinarian.

These workshops are an excellent occasion for farmers to 
meet and share knowledge and experience with their peers, 
while also providing valuable technical training on the 
sustainable growing of safe, healthy, high quality, 
locally-grown chicken.

These workshops 
are an excellent 
occasion for  
farmers to  
meet and share 
knowledge and 
experience with 
their peers

Meet
part of the

team!
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The Merrifield family, Artisanal Chicken Farmers 
from Jasper, Ontario
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CFO-sponsored farmer-members 
attend the CFO pre-conference 
session at the Advancing Women 
in Agriculture Conference in 
Niagara Falls, Ontario
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• 109 female farmer-members participated in the Women in 
Leadership initiative

• Supported four Women in Leadership community 
engagement activities

• Hosted the Annual Women in Leadership Breakfast  
during the 2019 CFO AGM

• Sponsored 27 farmer-members to attend the October 2019 
Advancing Women in Agriculture conference

• Four active female District Committee Representatives

• Two female District Committee Representative 
elects for 2020

The CFO Women in Leadership 
initiative was first implemented in 
2016 to encourage the business, 
professional and personal growth of 
female farmer-members, and amplify 
women’s voices within CFO and 
the industry. The approach of the 
initiative is to provide networking, 
collaboration and knowledge-sharing 
opportunities to help further share a 
culture where everyone at CFO feels 
empowered, supported and equipped 
to succeed. 

IN 2019, CFO’S WOMEN IN  
LEADERSHIP PLATFORM REACHED 
NEW MILESTONES, INCLUDING:

Growing CFO’s Women in Leadership Initiative

Growing CFO’s Women  
in Leadership Initiative

INAUGURAL WOMEN IN 
LEADERSHIP INDUSTRY TOUR
On September 23, 2019, thirty female farmer-members 
participated in the inaugural, day-long Poultry Industry Tour 
as part of the CFO Women in Leadership initiative. The tour 
included stops at Trillium Hatchery in Stratford, Ontario and 
Wallenstein Feed Mill in Wallenstein, Ontario. 

Through the tour, participating farmer-members had the 
opportunity to learn more about how other businesses in 
the poultry industry run their operations. The tour was an 
excellent community engagement activity that encouraged 
business, professional and personal growth for Women in 
Leadership participants.

Visit the CFO YouTube Channel
to watch a video of the Women in Industry Tour!
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The Importance of Responsible Use of Antibiotics

DR. GBENGA ALADE
Manager, Veterinary Services, Quality & Technical Affairs

As Manager of Veterinary Services, Quality & Technical Affairs,  
Dr. Gbenga Alade is a key CFO contact for animal welfare standards, 
responsible use of antimicrobials, poultry disease risk management, chick 
supply optimization and quality assurance - managing the development 
and implementation of related policies, and the monitoring and 
reporting processes for these programs. Gbenga’s role strongly supports 
CFO’s focus on responsible, sustainable production and effective risk 
management, and is integral in helping farmer-members with risk 
mitigation in their poultry operations.

In 2019, Gbenga was the inaugural recipient of the CFO President’s 
Award. The CFO President’s Award is an esteemed accolade recognizing 
staff-associate accomplishments and dedication to moving Ontario’s 
chicken industry forward.

Gbenga has been a part of the CFO team since 2016. To contact Gbenga, 
email gbenga.alade@ontariochicken.ca. 

Chicken Farmers of Canada's (CFC) Antimicrobial Use (AMU) 
Reduction Strategy was implemented in 2014 to establish 
methods that would reduce antibiotic use in poultry farming 
to ensure the continued effectiveness of antibiotics for both 
humans and animals. 

As part of CFC’s AMU Reduction Strategy, CFO and the Ontario 
chicken industry have taken major steps in antibiotic reduction 
with the removal of the preventive use of Category I and 
Category II antibiotics in 2014 and 2018, respectively. 

With the next step to eliminate the preventive use of Category 
III antibiotics, CFC continues to advance the further reduction 
of the use of antimicrobials considered of importance to human 
health. In 2019, CFO worked to support CFC’s re-assessment 
of the industry’s readiness for the elimination of Category 
III antibiotics through multiple farmer-member and industry 
surveys as well as monitoring and analysis of farmer-member 
reported use. 

Taking into account key aspects of animal welfare and 
sustainability, in June 2020, CFC will evaluate next steps 
regarding the implementation date for the removal of the 
preventive use of Category III antibiotics.

The Importance of Responsible  
Use of Antibiotics

The industry is proud to be 
building trust and confidence 
with consumers by ensuring 
antimicrobial reduction efforts 
are open, transparent, and  
supportive of public health.

Meet
part of the

team!
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An Industry-led Emergency Management Solution

In 2019, the CFO Board was pleased to announce a new 
industry-led emergency management solution which provides 
the chicken broiler industry partners with access to innovative 
emergency flock depopulation services.

The new depopulation solution 
is a significant step forward 
in our on-going commitment to 
best-in-class animal welfare 
practices and effective risk 
management strategies. 

The service enables the humane depopulation of flocks 
that may have a disease or condition that affects the  
bird's welfare or food safety, or other emergencies of  
an environmental nature. 

CFO staff-associates are coordinating this emergency service 
for farmers and broiler chicken industry partners who have 
been assessed and approved. The depopulation service is 
administered by a third party. 

GOVERNMENTS INVESTING IN 
STRENGTHENING EMERGENCY RESPONSE  
FOR CHICKEN INDUSTRY IN ONTARIO
The CFO Board was the grateful recipient of federal and 
provincial funding which has been instrumental in making the 
depopulation service readily available. 

The governments have committed up to $350,873 in 
cost-share funding to CFO, working alongside the  
Ontario Broiler Hatching Egg and Chick Commission and 
the Association of Ontario Chicken Processors under the 
Canadian Agricultural Partnership. 

CFO would like to thank Minister Hardeman and Minister 
Bibeau for this support and partnership as we work together to 
enhance our emergency response services, and continuously 
improve biosecurity and animal welfare on our farms and 
throughout our industry.

An industry-led emergency 
management solution



Feather Board Command Centre (FBCC)

FBCC INDUSTRY TRAINING
Disease outbreaks are a continued threat to the animal 
agriculture industry. As a result, emergency preparedness is 
a necessity for all four feather boards to ensure a timely and 
well-executed response to any potential poultry-related  
disease situation. 

In June 2019, CFO staff-members participated in a 
three-day Disease Outbreak Response Simulation hosted 
by the Feather Board Command Centre (FBCC) in 
Guelph, Ontario. The training was held in collaboration 
with the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural 
Affairs (OMAFRA) and the Canadian Food Inspection 
Agency’s (CFIA) Ontario Response Team.

The three-day training saw fifty participants—those who 
would be mobilized in a real emergency—undergo a 
detailed simulation of an outbreak of an H5 virus strain 
causing Avian Influenza (AI) on an Ontario poultry farm. 
Participants followed the internationally recognized Incident 
Management System (IMS) model and acted out the roles 
that they would be responsible for during a real AI incident.   

This simulation is one of many endeavors to ensure effective 
disease management and is a part of a concerted effort to 
work closely together with all necessary parties to enhance 
communication, mapping, and understanding of policies and 
roles in the event of a real emergency. 

 

Register with FBCC  
today at www.fbcc.ca  
to receive timely Disease 
Alerts, monthly updates  
and gain access to FBCC’s  
extensive resource library.

Feather Board  
Command Centre
Risk Management is an ongoing priority for all CFO operations, 
ensuring that everything we do has the aim of reducing risk 
and strengthening the resilience of both CFO and the Ontario 
poultry industry’s value chain. 

As part of CFO’s disease risk management strategy, CFO 
works closely with Ontario’s fellow feather boards— Egg 
Farmers of Ontario (EFO); Ontario Broiler Hatching Egg 
and Chick Commission (OBHECC); and Turkey Farmers of 
Ontario (TFO)—through the Feather Board Command 
Centre (FBCC). 

Since 2011, the FBCC has coordinated the Ontario poultry 
industry’s emergency response to targeted disease through 
promoting preparedness, prevention, response and recovery. 
Through timely communications and coordination with 
farmers  and industry stakeholders in the event of targeted 
infections (federally-reportable diseases and ILT)—including 

biosecurity advisories, zone maps, and disease updates— 
FBCC helps prevent the potential spread of highly infectious 
diseases and protects the industry to ensure the continued, 
steady supply of high quality poultry to Ontario consumers.

In the past year, the FBCC Board conducted an extensive 
review of the current FBCC governance model and initiated 
discussions with the Association of Ontario Chicken 
Processors (AOCP), Poultry Service Association (PSA),  
Ontario Agri Business Association (OABA) and Ontario Hatcheries 
Association (OHA) with the perspective of expanding the 
board to include strategic industry stakeholder groups. The 
FBCC Emergency Management Plan has been updated to include 
lessons of previous outbreaks and simulations.
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The Westerhout family, 
chicken farmers from Clinton, Ontario



Throughout 2019, CFO Board Directors participated 
in multiple days of mediation – a formal process 
which was undertaken by CFO and the Association 
of Ontario Chicken Processors (AOCP), and 
mediated by former Superior Court Justice, 
the Hon. Frank Newbould.

The Board worked very hard throughout mediation – 
and was clear that CFO would only accept a fair and 
reasonable pricing formula on behalf of farmers. 

Regrettably, the Board was unable to obtain a fair and 
reasonable deal through the mediation process. As a 
result, mediation concluded without an agreement.

Since the CFO Board was unable to achieve the right 
outcomes from the mediation process, the Board 
and AOCP engaged with the Ontario Farm Products 

Marketing Commission (OFPMC) on next steps – as 
ultimately, it is the Government of Ontario that has 
the final authority on the pricing formula for Ontario 
live chickens (as per government Regulation 402). 

Next, OFPMC asked CFO and AOCP to provide written 
submissions detailing their respective positions. 
From there, written reply submissions were provided 
by each party, and then each party was afforded 
the opportunity to present their perspective to the 
OFPMC Board.

Working with a small team of experts, analysts and 
advisors, CFO ensured its presentation detailed the 
importance of the pricing formula and the enormity 
of impact it can have on the financial well-being of 
farmer-members and their families.

The Cost of Production Formula (COPF) remained the 
Board’s number one priority in 2019. The Board has always 
strived towards a cost of production formula which provides 
sustainability and ultimately preserves the family farm. 

Our Journey to Strengthen & Sustain the Family Farm

Our Journey to 
Strengthen & Sustain  
the Family Farm
COST OF PRODUCTION FORMULA PROGRESS
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DETAILED  
TIMELINE 
OF THE COPF 
PRICING JOURNEY

FEBRUARY 2019
CFO completes farmer-member 
cost survey 

MAY 2019
CFO & AOCP begin mediation

SEPTEMBER 24, 2019
Mediation concludes 
without agreement

MARCH 2020 
CFO & AOCP each present 
perspectives to the OFPMC Board

OCTOBER 2019
CFO & AOCP inform the OFPMC 
that mediation concluded without 
an agreement

NOVEMBER 15, 2019
CFO & AOCP provide written 
submissions to the OFPMC  

DECEMBER 20, 2019
CFO & AOCP provide written 
reply submissions to the OFPMC

FARMER-MEMBER 
PARTICIPATION & 
COMMUNICATION 
The CFO Board remains committed to 
keeping the farmer-membership informed. 
Throughout the COPF review, mediation, 
and OFPMC process, CFO has worked 
directly with farmer-members to provide 
regular updates. From the farmer-member 
cost survey, to the 2019 Annual General 
Meeting, Regional Meetings, District 
Meetings, and through weekly email 
communications and ontariochicken.ca, 
the Board has received ongoing feedback 
and support – providing for strongly 
informed positions and submissions.



Supply Management Advocacy

Supply Management 
Advocacy

TALKING CHICKEN WITH 
FEDERAL CANDIDATES
With a federal election in late 2019, in partnership with 
Chicken Farmers of Canada (CFC), CFO’s Board of 
Directors and DCRs worked hard throughout the year 
to bring greater awareness of the chicken industry to 
federal election candidates across the province. 

Both CFO Board Members 
and DCRs hosted numerous 
candidates for farm tours 
on their family farms, and 
encouraged candidates to 
demonstrate their support 
for local chicken farmers 
through social media or 
by displaying posters in 
their campaign offices. 
Through these activities, 
CFO representatives were able to participate in 
over 60 engagements with candidates across more 
than 30 ridings. 

Ontario’s chicken value chain contributes over 
$3.8 billion to Ontario’s economy and supports 
over 22,000 jobs, making the chicken industry an 
important part of local communities.

CFO is committed to providing demonstrable leadership for 
the chicken industry, the supply management sector, and 
the broader Ontario agriculture community. In 2019, CFO 
expanded our public affairs and advocacy portfolios. 

In alignment with Chicken Farmers of Canada (CFC), CFO 
met with Canadian Members of Parliament, including the 
Honourable Marie-Claude Bibeau, Minister of Agriculture 
and Agri-Food, and advocated for an expedited provision of 
mitigation measures in response to the Comprehensive and 
Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) 
and the Canadian-United States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA). 

Working with the Ontario Government, CFO participated 
in numerous consultations and roundtables with Cabinet 
Ministers and MPPs to discuss important topics, including: 
animal activism, red tape reduction, electricity rates, the new 
Provincial Animal Welfare Services Act, and mental health.

Invited as a key stakeholder by Premier Doug Ford, CFO 
showcased Premium Ontario Chicken at both the Council 
of the Federation meeting of Canada’s Premiers and First 
Ministers, and the Premier’s Taste of Ontario event for 
international Consuls General.  

In 2019, CFO once again held a successful Annual Chicken Day 
at Queen’s Park; bringing positive messages about Ontario’s 
chicken industry to the attention of provincial elected 
officials. CFO’s Board of Directors and District Committee 
Representatives met with 16 Cabinet Ministers and a total 
of 69 MPPs. 

CFO Chair Ed Benjamins and District 1 DCR Derek Detzler 
meet with Premier Doug Ford at the “Taste of Ontario” showcase 
during the Council of the Federation meetings in Mississauga

CFO 2nd Vice-Chair Brian Lewis meets with 
the Honourable Marie-Claude Bibeau, Minister of 
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada in Brussels, Ontario
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CFO worked with industry stakeholders, members of the 
enforcement community, and the Ontario Government 
to address the increasing risk of animal activism related 
trespassing on-farm. Trespassing for any reason, including 
animal activism, is illegal and puts the safety and well-being of 
our businesses, our families, and our animals at risk. 

Strengthening legal protection from trespassers will better 
safeguard Ontario’s food supply and support the welfare 
and safety of the animals in our care. Healthy, safe farms are 
important for the people who live and work there, as well as 
for animals and consumers. Ontario chicken farmers follow 
high standards of animal care. Those standards of care include 
biosecurity protocols designed to protect animals from 
disease. Anyone entering barns or farms, handling animals or 
moving between barns without following proper biosecurity 
protocols puts the health of animals, the safety of food and the 
livelihood of farmers at risk.

Farmers work closely with veterinarians, nutrition specialists, 
regulators and other experts to monitor and maintain the 
health and safety of their animals and property. CFO will 
continue to work with other agriculture stakeholders, police 
and government to support the rights of farmers to protect 
their property from illegal activities. 

Protecting Our Farm Businesses

CFO APPLAUDS STRONGER  
TRESPASSING PROTECTION
In December, the Honourable Ernie Hardeman, Minister 
of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs introduced the 
Security From Trespass and Protecting Food Safety Act, 
2019. This legislation is an important measure that if passed, 
will better protect Ontario livestock farmers from the threat 
of activist trespassers and the risk that trespassing poses to 
the safety and well-being of farming families, businesses, and 
livestock animals. 

The proposed legislation includes the creation of animal 
protection zones, which would enhance protection for 
barns, animal enclosures, transport, and processing 
facilities – providing protection across the industry 
value chain. 

CFO applauds Minister Hardeman and the Ontario 
Government for taking action to address this risk. We 
appreciate the extensive consultation undertaken by 
Minister Hardeman, Ontario’s Ministry of Agriculture, 
Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA), and the Ontario 
Government to find a path forward that is agreeable 
for all parties. 

Protecting our 
Farm Businesses



The Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand continues to grow in 
the hearts and minds of Canadian consumers.

In 2019, the logo obtained its largest awareness rating ever. 
This year’s result (42%) represents a significant increase over 
both 2018 and 2017. In fact, brand recognition has increased 
significantly every year since 2015.

The likability of the current advertising campaign is significant, 
with a rating of almost 80%.

Consumers agree, after seeing the ad, that they will look  
for the logo and purchase fresh, Canadian chicken as a result, 
and to choose to dine at restaurants with the logo  
on their menu.

After watching the ad, and consistent with other years, 87% of 
Canadians believe that it is important that Canadian chicken be 
labelled as Canadian. Three-quarters agree that  
it is important that they buy Canadian chicken, and that 
Canadian chicken is raised by farmers they can trust.

The traditional advertising efforts included four phases of 
television and digital advertising, which increased the profile 
of the brand throughout Canada. Consumers engaged with 
the brand via contesting, social media, and other digital 
avenues. In addition, the subscription base for CFC's consumer 
newsletters increased to over 71,000 people.

The brand creative was used again in 2019 to further the 
reach of Raised by a Canadian Farmer beyond the primary 
audience of women 25-54 to continue to include millennials, 
as well as develop a more contemporary and distinctive image 
to support on-going brand-building. The new creative aired 
nationally across three media outlets: Rogers Media, Québecor 
Groupe Média (TVA) and Ricardo Media, using multiple, 
integrated platforms of TV, digital, email marketing, and print. 

CFO & CFC Raised by a Canadian Farmer

1. 3 Brasseurs
2. Blue Goose
3. Burger King
4. Dollar Foods MFG
5. Prime Pubs 

(Cara Foods)
6. Chorizo’s
7. Eden Valley Poultry
8. Farmboy
9. Farmway Foods

10. Federated Co-op
11. Fiesta Farms
12. Granny’s Poultry
13. Giant Tiger
14. Harvey’s
15. Imago Restaurants 

(Duke Pubs)
16. KFC
17. Longo’s Brothers 

Fruit Markets
18. Maple Leaf

19. Maple Lodge (Halal)
20. Mary Browns
21. Mildmay Freshmart
22. Montana’s
23. Nando’s
24. Prairie Pride
25. Retail Ready 

(LiberTerre) RWA
26. Save-on-Foods
27. Seven Eleven
28. Sobeys
29. Sofina Foods 

(Lillydale)
30. Sunrise Farms
31. Swiss Chalet
32. Twin Maple  

Products Ltd.
33. Vince’s Market
34. Walmart Canada
35. Wild Wings
36. Yorkshire Valley Farms

the logo.

To date, we have

36
active
brand 
participants
actively using

Raised by a 
Canadian Farmer
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The Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand has become a regular 
part of all promotional and communications efforts at CFC. It 
is incorporated within all public communications, and remains 
a key element in the naming and promotion of programs.

The brand is synonymous with origin and quality — but now, 
when consumers choose chicken with the logo, they know that 
they’re getting the best from their local farmers.

The use of the logo across CFC platforms also gives farmers 
recognizable symbols that they can use to demonstrate the 
innovation, pride and hard work they put in every day to 
implement some of the highest standards in food safety and 

animal care, and it proudly confirms their commitment 
to keeping their work environmentally, economically and  
socially sustainable.

Farmers are consumers, too. They take great pride in being 
able to bring Canada’s number one protein to tables from 
coast to coast, including their own. It makes sense that the 
Raised by a Canadian Farmer brand becomes a part of what 
they do as farmers, so they can show Canadians that they 
are committed to doing everything they can to maintain 
consumers hard-earned trust.

CFO PLAYS A VERY ACTIVE 
LEADERSHIP ROLE IN THE  
NATIONAL SYSTEM
Pictured from left to right are:  
Ed Benjamins, Chair, CFO, 
Michael Laliberté, CFC Executive Director,  
Benoît Fontaine, CFC Chair   
Rob Dougans, CFO President and CEO
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Keeping  
chicken

on the  
plate

Keeping Chicken on the Plate
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CHICKEN IS SUSTAINABLE.
Canadians are rightly worried about the potential impacts 
of climate change and are searching for ways to minimize 
their carbon footprint. Plant-based alternatives are widely 
understood to be one way to do this. But chicken is 
well-placed with respect to carbon emissions. According 
to a 2019 study by Bard College, Yale University and the 
Weizmann Institute of Science, chicken production is 10 
times less resource-intensive than beef production, with 
a commensurate effect on carbon emissions and the 
environment at large. Consumers looking to reduce their 
carbon footprint will be able to do so by choosing chicken.

CHICKEN IS FRESH & HEALTHY.
While millennials are among the most likely to try plant-based 
alternatives, this generation also regularly seeks out whole, 
unprocessed foods. New plant-based meat alternatives are 
the product of a tremendous investment in food science and 
manufacturing. This does not mean they are unhealthy: A 
plant-based burger is roughly equivalent to a regular burger, 
with respect to calories and sodium. But chicken is Canada’s 
lean protein of choice for a reason: it is low-fat, relatively 
low-calorie, accessible and fresh. 

CHICKEN IS RAISED  
BY A CANADIAN FARMER.
To the modern consumer, food isn’t just food. It’s also the 
story behind the food: how it is raised, and crucially, who it 
is raised by. Countless studies tell us that Canadians prefer 
Canadaian products. They want to know where their food 
comes from. Showcasing the Raised by a Canadian Farmer 
brand is one way we keep our safe, healthy, high quality 
chicken top of mind with consumers. 

When it comes to 
which story is more  

appetizing, 
there is no contest.

Chicken remains the most popular 
protein in Canada. It is eaten more 
frequently than anything else—2.4 
times per week according to Chicken 
Farmers of Canada. And, 8 in 10 
Canadians believe that chicken 
provides good value, relative to  
other meats which is great news  
for our industry. 

But there are challenges on the 
horizon. Driven by concerns about 
health, the environment and 
more, consumers are increasingly 
considering plant-based meat 
alternatives. This new category 
markets to meat eaters, branding 
its products as healthier, more 
sustainable and just as tasty as meat. 
And, consumers are paying attention. 
An August 2019 Angus Reid study 
found that nearly all Canadians 
(95%) are familiar with plant-based 
meat alternatives. 

While it is likely consumers will 
continue to try these new products, 
there are lots of reasons why 
Canadian chicken is sure to be  
on the plates of Canadians for 
years to come.



Working Towards a Hunger-Free Ontario

Working Towards a 
Hunger-Free Ontario

As Canada’s premier provider of trusted, family-farmed, safe, 
high quality, nutritious chicken, the Chicken Farmers of 
Ontario (CFO) are making sure that all of Ontario’s families 
have a chance to enjoy Premium Ontario Chicken. 

The CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks program makes it 
possible for farmers to donate a steady supply of fresh,  
locally- grown chicken to local food banks across the province.

This year, over 500 CFO farmer-members helped donate over 
1.7 million meals to families and individuals in need. 

Supported by the CFO Cares Working Group, the program has 
donated over 4 million meals since 2015. 

We’re not stopping there! Feed Ontario food banks provide 
25 million meals each year. In 2020, the CFO Cares: Farmers 
to Food Banks program will continue to expand with new 
strategic partnerships and provide more homegrown good. 

CFO RECEIVES PAUL MISTELE AWARD
In 2019, the CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks program was 
the proud recipient of Feed Ontario’s Paul Mistele Award, 
which recognizes farmer donations to food banks. The award 
is in memory of Paul Mistele, the founder of Ontario Pork’s 
Donate-A-Hog program in 1998.

The award was presented during Farm & Food Care Ontario’s 
annual Harvest Gala, and accepted by CFO’s Chair and members 
of the DCR CFO Cares Working Group.

Murray Opsteen Chair of the CFO Cares Working Group,  
Board Director District 6  

Paul Arva 
DCR District 6 

Melissa Devries 
DCR District 5

Darren Kraay 
DCR District 4

Alfred Rumph 
DCR District 7

Ralph Deweerd 
DCR District 2

CFO CARES WORKING GROUP 
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London Food Bank The Compass Food Bank, Mississauga

Barrie Food Bank

CFO supports Minister's Food Drive

Caledonia & District Food Bank

Helping Hand Food Bank, Tillsonburg

Fare Share Food Bank, Cobourg

CFO donates to Sounds of the Season

Brockville & Area Food Bank

CFO sponsors Hunger Action Month

Gleaners Food Bank, Belleville

Fare Share Food Bank, Port Hope

CFO donates to Feed Ontario at AGM Strathroy Salvation Army Food Bank

St. Thomas Elgin Food Bank
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CFO Connects

DIGITALLY PROGRESSIVE 
BUSINESS FUNCTIONALITY
As part of CFO’s digital-first approach, the user-friendly online 
platform — CFO Connects — is an important digital tool 
that aids the chicken industry value chain in working more 
efficiently together. With numerous daily business transactions 
and reporting requirements, CFO farmer-members and 
industry stakeholders rely on CFO Connects to conduct their 
business in a simplified, standardized and automated way. 

The CFO Connects team worked diligently behind the scenes 
in 2019 to continue to modify and improve the CFO Connects 
platform, adapting the system to find ways to better serve the 
needs of the chicken industry. 

DELIVERING INNOVATIVE,  
MOBILE TECHNOLOGY
In mid-2019, CFO achieved a key milestone for CFO Connects 
through the launch of a mobile-friendly version of the CFO 
Connects platform. This mobility allows for easier, direct 
access to portal features and functionality  — anytime, 
anywhere, on any device. 

Compatible with both iOS and Android and with a new, 
efficient interface, the CFO Connects mobile platform gives 
farmer-members the flexibility to access CFO Connects to 
complete regular business transactions from the devices they 
use most frequently. 

Dave Meadows, family-farmer from 
Stratford and Valerie Stone, a CFO 
Farming Operations Representative.
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MEDIA RELATIONS IN  
2019—TELLING  
OUR STORY 
In 2019, CFO was focused on deepening relationships with the 
media—to better tell our story and ensure that stakeholders 
and Ontarians are aware of the good work that is being done 
on-farm, and at the Board office. 

Reach was widespread, as the positive press surrounding 
the CFO Cares: Farmers to Food Banks program garnered 
hundreds of stories spanning print, radio, TV and digital news 
outlets across the province.

In addition to press surrounding farmers’ efforts in hunger-
relief, there were a number of other key priorities that were 
picked-up by the media. 

Of note is a perspectives piece that was published in the 
September 2019 edition of Canadian Poultry. Written by CFO’s 
Dr. Gbenga Alade, the article Adjusting to reduced antimicrobial 
use highlights a three-step process towards the elimination of 
preventive use of all antibiotics considered important in human 
medicine—and, the importance of doing everything possible to 
lessen the potential impact of antimicrobial resistance. 

 Adjusting to reduced antimicrobial use

Gbenga Alade is manager of veterinary services at Chicken Farmers of 
Ontario (CFO). A certified veterinarian with over 10 years of experience 
in Canada and Nigeria, Alade’s work includes planning and managing 
CFO’s implementation of CFC’s AMU reduction strategy. 

Perspectives

By Gbenga Alade

As farmers, 
doing all 
that we can 
to lessen 
the poten-
tial impact 
of anti-
microbial 
resistance 
makes the 
journey 
worthwhile.

C
hicken Farmers of 
Canada (CFC)’s 
antimicrobial use 
reduction strategy 
is well thought 
out and ideally 
paced. This is evi-

dence of the strong leadership that 
continues to elevate the import-
ance of responsible use of antibiot-
ics in animal agriculture. This is 
despite reports surmising that 
more than half (59 per cent) of 
antimicrobials used in broiler 
chickens were in classes not used 
in human medicine, such as iono-
phores and chemical coccidiostats 
used to prevent coccidiosis.

The CFC strategy is a three-step 
process towards the elimination of 
preventive use of all antibiotics 
considered important in human 
medicine. The first and second steps 
are already completed with the 
elimination of preventive use of 
Category I (those most critical to 
human health) and Category II 
antibiotics in 2014 and 2018 re-
spectively. 

Thankfully, it is well-recognized 
that the therapeutic use of antibiot-
ics, under the guidance of a veterin-
arian, must always be an option to 
prevent potential adverse animal 
health and welfare outcomes. We 
must continue to strike a disciplined 
and educated balance between hu-
man health considerations and the 
welfare of the birds in our care. 

Chicken farmers are working 
alongside veterinarians to adminis-
ter antibiotics in animals for three 
main reasons. Firstly, to treat an ill-
ness that has been diagnosed. Sec-
ondly, to control the spread of illness 
in a flock. And lastly, for the preven-
tion of an imminent illness in a flock 
at risk of exposure. 

I understand that the reduction of 
antibiotics can potentially introduce 

challenges, which Ontario’s farmers 
have recently met with mettle. 
Some of the challenges that have 
been reportedly associated with re-
duction or elimination of anti-
microbial use include increasing 
disease burden, especially necrotic 
enteritis and coccidiosis, as well as 
an increased feed cost associated 
with alternative products required 
in cases where antibiotics are elim-
inated or reduced.

As always, with challenges we 
also look for opportunities to re-
think how we have previously 
practised raising broiler chickens. 
We can learn a lot from jurisdic-
tions that are further ahead in the 
antimicrobial reduction journey 
and from farmers within Ontario 
that have experienced positive 
production in the reduced anti-
microbial environment. 

Two common factors and messa-
ges emanate from these groups: It is 
achievable and the right thing to do; 
and there is no single solution that 
will replace the antibiotics that are 
eliminated.

Farmers and industry partners 
that have experienced success in a 
reduced antibiotic environment 
stress the importance of paying keen 
attention and taking care of every 
little detail that involves manage-

ment of the birds. That includes, but 
is not limited to, paying close atten-
tion to water and feed consumption, 
the barn environment and optimum 
biosecurity that will potentially re-
duce challenges brought on by dis-
ease-causing organisms.

In addition, practices such as 
optimizing downtime and reducing 
bird density have been shown to be 
good tools in a reduced antibiotic 
environment. A holistic approach 
that leverages development of a 
flock health plan and working close-
ly with a veterinarian to ensure 
early detection and treatment of a 
flock illness will go a long way to 
ensure success.

Farmers are not left to bear the 
burden alone. Government and in-
dustry stakeholders, including the 
research community, are driven to 
look for solutions by targeting 
meaningful work that will benefit 
farms and birds in this reduced 
antibiotic environment. 

We cannot lose sight of the fact 
that this is all about public health. 
As farmers, doing all that we can to 
lessen the potential impact of anti-
microbial resistance makes the 
journey worthwhile.

For references, see the online 
version of this article at canadian-
poultrymag.com. 

 CANADIAN POULTRY 9canadianpoultrymag.com

LUKE ORIBINE 
Senior Analyst, Applications

In his role as Senior Analyst, Applications, Luke Oribine is continually 
finding new and innovative ways to design, adapt and upgrade the 
CFO technology systems that both support our core organizational 
functions and help farmer-members and stakeholders more easily 
complete business transactions and reporting requirements. 

Whether it be working on the design and code of CFO Connects or 
heavily supporting CFO’s shift to a digital-first business, Luke is a 
key player in finding effective technology-focused solutions for our 
farmer-members’ many business needs.

Luke has been with CFO since 2013. He is always pleased to 
work directly with farmer-members, and can be reached at 
luke.oribine@ontariochicken.ca. 

In addition, farmer-members and industry stakeholders are encouraged 
to use the 24/7 CFO Connects Support Hotline (1-855-800-4815) 
should they have immediate technological needs and requirements. 

Meet
part of the

team!
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Our People & Culture 

Our People & Culture

From Left to Right:
Susan Pol Coordinator, Community Programs
Liz Millward Analyst, Production Logistics
Dr. Gbenga Alade Manager, Veterinary Services, 
Quality & Technical Affairs
Aimee Edwards Representative,
Farmer-Member & Business Services
Chris Horbász Director, Corporate & Regulatory Affairs 

Heena Bhatia Project Coordinator
Carl Stevenson Manager,
Community Programs Operations & Flock Advisor 
Amanda Bordin Farming Operations Representative
Nancy Ward Administrator, Master Data
Marilyn Hendricks Advisor, Human Resources
Joshua Sun Analyst, Pricing & Markets 

From Left to Right:
Tim Fiss Farming Operations Representative
Stephanie Little Farming Operations Representative
Nicholas Hladuniw Coordinator, Systems Solutions
Aseema Singh Vice President,  
Strategy & Business Development 
Mark Osiemo Junior Accountant
Sharon McMaster Farming Operations Representative

Pat Shanahan Director,  
Community Business Development & Corporate Services
Caitlin Lee Coordinator, Processor Supply
Luke Oribine Senior Analyst, Applications
Fatima Samson Controller, Shared Financial Services
Hasan Banna Senior Analyst, Pricing & Markets
Louise Firth Associate, Board Logistics & Services
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From Left to Right:
Vicky Whitehead Farming Operations Representative
Rob Boyko Vice President, Operations
Sue Munro Executive Assistant & Manager,  
Office Administration
Tiffany Harvey Coordinator, Farming Operations 
Cathy Aker Manager, Production Planning & Performance
Renée Bronkhorst Manager, Farming Operations 

Nicole Bernard Specialist, Farmer-Member Communications
John Neil Supervisor, Farming Operations
Shanna Armstrong Farming Operations Representative
Tessa Christie Manager,  
Legal & Regulatory Affairs & Corporate Secretary 
Valerie Stone Farming Operations Representative

From Left to Right:
Laura Stewart Supervisor, Farming Operations 
Robert Mazun Farming Operations Representative
Dana Cress Corporate Law Clerk
Rob Dougans President & CEO
Qing Ying Huang Specialist, Specialty Breeds & Market Development
Jason Tsoukas General Counsel 
Sheree MacNinch Senior Analyst, Infrastructure &  Operations
Neil Palmer Supervisor, Farming Operations
Dr. Gwen Zellen Vice President, Quality, Technical Affairs & Sustainability

Kathryn Goodish Senior Director,  
Communications & Stakeholder Relations
Jason Ho Assistant Controller
Not Pictured
Curtis Nichol Farming Operations Representative
Shannon Nicholson Farming Operations Representative
Kory Preston Specialist, Public Affairs
Sylvie Rice Specialist, Corporate Communications
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Committed to  
safe, healthy, high 
quality production
MEET THE FARMING OPERATIONS REPRESENTATIVE TEAM

As on-farm auditors and inspectors, the CFO Farming Operations 
Representative (FOR) team directly supports farmer-members by assisting 
them in meeting regulatory requirements and building on-farm capacity. 
During farm visits, FORs are also dedicated to helping farmer-members 
understand new protocols and roll-out operating practices. 

From Left to Right:
Timothy Fiss Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: September 2018 Region: District 1
Renée Bronkhorst Manager, Farming Operations  
Starting date: January 2012 Region: Ontario 
Neil Palmer Supervisor, Farming Operations 
Starting Date: February 2012 Region: District 3 & 8
Amanda Bordin Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: July 2019 Region: District 3 & 8

John Neil Supervisor, Farming Operations  
Starting Date: May 1994 Region: District 5,  
Sharon Mcmaster Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: May 2018 Region: District 3  
Laura Stewart Supervisor, Farming Operations  
Starting Date: November 2005 Region: Districts 1

Committed to Safe, Healthy, High Quality Production
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TIFFANY HARVEY 
Coordinator, Farming Operations

In order to help farmer-members meet regulatory requirements, understand 
changes to the On-Farm Food Safety Program and Animal Care Program, and  
roll-out CFO operating practices in the field, CFO’s team of Farming Operations 
Representatives (FORs) conduct annual audits and on-farm visits across all 
Ontario chicken farms. Given the 1300+ chicken farms in Ontario, logistics 
planning, support and teamwork are essential components of the FOR department.

As Farming Operations Coordinator, Tiffany Harvey directly supports the FOR 
team so that they can effectively support our farmer-members, helping ensure 
the high standards of safe and effective chicken production we have come to 
expect in Ontario.

Tiffany’s background in project management, program delivery and 
administration helps her support the execution of key department objectives, 
provide consistent and accurate reporting, and ensure the delivery of 
service excellence. 

Tiffany joined CFO in 2015. To reach Tiffany, send an email to 
tiffany.harvey@ontariochicken.ca. 

From Left to Right:
Valerie Stone Farming Operations Representative 
Starting Date: March 2019 Region: District 3
Carl Stevenson Community Programs 
Operations Manager & Flock Advisor  
Starting Date: January 2007 Region: Ontario
Tiffany Harvey Coordinator, Farming Operations 
Starting Date: June 2015
Robert Mazun Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: February 1989 Region: Districts 4, 5, & 6
Shanna Armstrong Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: August 2009  
Region: District 9 (Eastern Region), Quebec and Northern Ontario 

Stephanie Little Farming Operations Representative 
Starting Date: November 2018 Region: District 7, Quebec
Vicky Whitehead Farming Operations Representative  
Starting Date: March 2019 Region: District 4 & 5
Not Pictured
Curtis Nichol Farming Operations Representative
Starting Date: July 2019 Region: District 2
Shannon Nicholson Farming Operations Representative
Starting Date: September 2016  
Region: District 1 & 9 (Western Region), Northern Ontario

Meet
part of the

team!
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Social icon

Circle
Only use blue and/or white.

For more details check out our
Brand Guidelines.

We’re Social
CFO actively maintains several social media channels in order to stay 
connected with our followers — farmer-members, stakeholders and 
consumers alike. 

FOLLOW US ON OUR SOCIAL MEDIA CHANNELS TO STAY 
UP TO DATE ON CFO NEWS AND EVENTS. 

TWITTER:
With over 1200 followers, CFO’s Twitter feed is a public-facing channel that keeps 
followers informed on CFO activities including upcoming engagement opportunities, 
updates on CFO’s participation in industry events, fun facts, and much more.

Follow CFO’s Twitter handle @OntarioChicken to stay connected with the Ontario 
chicken farming community.

FACEBOOK:
CFO maintains private Facebook groups for both Artisanal Chicken Farmers and Women in 
Leadership participants where our farmers can network, discuss and share knowledge on 
their farming experiences. 

YOUTUBE: 
The CFO YouTube channel hosts educational videos about CFO programs, events, and 
poultry best practices. Of particular note is CFO’s Broiler Brooding Best Management 
Practices video featuring Dr. Scott Gillingham, Poultry Veterinarian. Join the over 350,000 
viewers who have already tuned in.

Be sure to follow CFO on YouTube to watch the latest videos as they become available.

NICOLE BERNARD
Specialist, Farmer-Member Communications

Integral to the CFO Communications team, Nicole Bernard brings a wealth of 
experience and talent to her role as Specialist, Farmer-Member Communications. 
A highly skilled writer and creator, Nicole develops strategic communication 
initiatives and supports increased farmer-member engagement through elevated 
communication outreach and activities.

Nicole works collaboratively with CFO’s subject matter experts to ensure that all 
technical content is communicated promptly and in language intended for farmer-
members. From email communications, to CFO’s suite of marquee farmer-member 
engagement events, Nicole consistently delivers best-in-class products essential to 
advancing CFO’s commitment to open and transparent communications.

To reach Nicole, send an email to nicole.bernard@ontariochicken.ca.
Meet
part of the

team!

We're Social
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Stakeholder  
Communications

MEET THE CFO FRENCH  
LANGUAGE SERVICES TEAM
With many chicken farms located in French-speaking areas across Ontario, bilingual 
communication is an essential component of CFO business operations. The CFO French 
Language Services Team consists of five team-members with varied skills and backgrounds, 
all of whom work to ensure seamless communication with our French-speaking farmer-
members and industry associates. 

The CFO Board provides all written communications in both English and French. In 
addition, simultaneous translation is provided both at Regional Meetings hosted in  
French-speaking communities and the CFO Annual General Meeting.

Encompassing farmer-members, industry partners, and other strategic relations, CFO 
collaborates with numerous stakeholders on a daily basis. Our strategic ambition is to 
elevate CFO as a leader in supply management and chicken agriculture by expanding our 
brand tools and strategies, expanding our effective advocacy profile with all levels of 
government and identifying and enhancing strategic relationships with stakeholders.

The CFO Communications team works together to employ strategic, open and transparent 
communications with all stakeholders, keeping them informed and engaged with relevant CFO 
news, policies and processes, and technical content. 

From Left to Right:
Sylvie Rice 
Specialist, Corporate 
Communications
Stephanie Little  
Farming Operations 
Representative
Nancy Ward
Administrator, Master Data
Jason Tsoukas 
General Counsel
Shanna Armstrong
Farming Operations 
Representative
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Meadows family farm,  
located in Stratford, Ontario

TESSA CHRISTIE
Manager, Legal and Regulatory 
Affairs & Corporate Secretary

Joining CFO in 2015, Tessa Christie, CFO’s Manager of Legal and Regulatory 
Affairs & Corporate Secretary oversees and ensures the efficient execution 
of the quota management function, the precision of data quality and 
reliability, and the satisfaction of farmer-member interactions.

CFO’s digital quota management system ensures that there is greater 
transparency in the understanding of the availability of quota units, it allows 
farmers looking to acquire additional quota or those looking to transfer out 
quota greater access to a wider market. 

Do you have questions about quota management? Feel free to 
contact Tessa at tessa.christie@ontariochicken.ca. 

Meet
part of the

team!
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District 1 Premises Quota Units

Bruce 43 1,618,681 

Dufferin 11 300,770 

Grey 23 706,420 

Peel 7 241,105 

Simcoe 34 931,176 

Sudbury 1 3,000 

York 6 176,884 

 125 3,978,036 

District 2 Premises Quota Units

Huron 183 5,655,230

 183 5,655,230

District 3 Premises Quota Units

Elgin 30   957,358  

Essex 1   22,456  

Kent 5  199,823  

Lambton 38  1,294,652  

Middlesex 55  2,225,564  

Oxford 114  4,000,787  

 234  8,700,640  

District 4 Premises Quota Units

Haldimand-Norfolk  91   3,263,759  

Niagara 

(Pelham-Wainfleet) 11   337,611  

 102  3,601,370  

District 5 Premises Quota Units

Hamilton-Wentworth 2  61,816 

Niagara 105   3,450,965  

 107   3,512,781  

District 6 Premises Quota Units

Brant 21   616,268  

Halton 5   190,606  

Hamilton-Wentworth 27  784,273  

 53   1,591,147  

District 7 Premises Quota Units

Wellington 173   6,306,635  

 173   6,306,635 

District 8 Premises Quota Units

Perth 123   3,816,949  

Waterloo 55   1,565,349  

 178  5,382,298  

District 9 Premises Quota Units

Dundas 1   22,342  

Durham 21   694,069  

Glengarry 8   333,697  

Lennox & Addington 1   65,306  

Northumberland 6   267,026  

Ottawa-Carlton 4   182,237  

Peterborough 13   497,940  

Prescott 28   900,378  

Prince Edward 12   378,853  

Renfrew 2  58,706  

Russell 3  90,579  

Stormont 3   121,666  

Victoria 8  192,924 

 110   3,805,723 

cfo registered  
Premises and basic 
quota units
BY DISTRICT AND COUNTY

CFO Registered Premises and Basic Quota Units
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Ontario by the Numbers

($/kg) A-153 A-154 A-155 A-156 A-157 A-158 A-159

Feed 0.7236 0.7084 0.7287 0.7150 0.7046 0.7494 0.7598

Chick 0.3710 0.3715 0.3749 0.3778 0.3788 0.3794 0.3892

Operational 0.3939 0.3939 0.4091 0.4091 0.4091 0.4091 0.4091

Capital 0.1355 0.1355 0.1383 0.1383 0.1383 0.1383 0.1383

Annual Adjustments -0.1031 -0.1031 -0.1210 -0.1210 -0.1210 -0.1210 -0.1210

1.521 1.506 1.530 1.519 1.510 1.555 1.575

Modular Loading Cost Recovery 0.0120 0.0120 0.0120 0.0120 0.0120 0.0120 0.0120

AI Insurance 0.0000 0.0015 0.0015 0.0015 0.0015 0.0015 0.0015

FGMLP 1.533 1.520 1.543 1.533 1.523 1.569 1.589

(Mkg) A-153 A-154 A-155 A-156 A-157 A-158 A-159

Core 91.4 84.9 87.1 89.5 88.5 89.4 91.8

Specialty Breeds 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.8

Export 1.7 1.4 2.1 1.1 1.5 1.1 1.1

Total Production 93.9 86.9 89.8 91.3 90.7 91.3 93.7

FARM-GATE MINIMUM LIVE PRICE (FGMLP)
The Farm-Gate Minimum Live Price (FGMLP) for chicken in 
Ontario represents the minimum price per kilogram of live 
chicken and is governed by Regulation 402 under the Ontario 
Farm Products Marketing Act. The CFO website provides a 
description as well as details on the various price components.  

The FGMLP is based on a cost of production and is for the 
weight category of 2.15kg to 2.45kg. Starting A-154, the 
FGMLP also includes an AI Insurance cost of 0.15 cents/kg.

ONTARIO PRODUCTION
Ontario production refers to the actual volumes of the 
different types of production reported by chicken farmers 
to CFO. 

‘Core’ refers to the White Rock chicken for the domestic 
market. Core production is the actual volumes produced based 
on allocation from Chicken Farmers of Canada.

Silkie and Dual Purpose volumes are actual production by 
chicken farmer-members who participated in Ontario’s 
Specialty Breeds Program in Ontario.

Export volumes represent production under the Market 
Development Program in Ontario.

All figures are expressed in million live kilograms.

Ontario by  
the numbers
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Ontario by the Numbers

(Mkg) A-153 A-154 A-155 A-156 A-157 A-158 A-159

Core 264.9 246.6 254.2 262.2 262.0 261.6 265.5

Specialty Breeds 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 2.1

Export 8.0 8.6 9.8 7.8 7.9 7.7 7.7

Total Production 274.8 257.1 265.9 271.9 271.8 271.3 275.3

(Mkg) A-153 A-154 A-155 A-156 A-157 A-158 A-159

Ontario 87.9 83.9 84.7 89.5 90.2 89.7 89.6

Canada 257.3 244.4 249.8 262.2 264.1 262.1 261.8

PRODUCTION PLANNING
Production planning refers to the volume of domestic 
production allocated by Chicken Farmers of Canada. All 
numbers are expressed in million live kilograms.

2018 $874 Million 

2019 $921 Million

NATIONAL PRODUCTION
National production refers to the actual volumes of the 
different types of production reported by Chicken Farmers 
of Canada. ‘Core’ refers to the White Rock chicken for the 
domestic market. 

Core production is the actual volumes produced based on 
allocation from Chicken Farmers of Canada. 

Silkie and Dual Purpose volumes are actual production by 
chicken farmer-members who participated in a Specialty 
Breeds Program in Canada. 

Export volumes represent production under a Market 
Development Program in Canada. 

All figures are expressed in million live kilograms.

Farm Gate Value of Ontario Chicken Grown

Brad Westerhout, family-farmer from Clinton, Ontario



independent 
auditor’s report
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  
CHICKEN FARMERS OF ONTARIO

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Chicken Farmers 
of Ontario (the “Organization”), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2019, and the statements of revenue 
and expenses, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively 
referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Organization as at December 31, 2019, and the results of 
its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for  
not-for-profit organizations.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards (“Canadian GAAS”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Organization in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 

Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Organization’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Independent Auditor’s Report

CFO staff-associates 
pictured from left to right: 
Hasan Banna, 
Senior Analyst,  
Pricing & Markets, 
Joshua Sun,  
Analyst, Pricing & Markets
Heena Bhatia,
Project Coordinator
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 
GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,  
they could reasonably be expected to influence the  
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Organization’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Organization’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Organization to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
February 21, 2020
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STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENSES
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
    2019  2018 
   Notes   $   $ 

Revenue      
Fees   9,789,460   9,505,140 

Over-quota levy assessment   2,812,608   1,906,520 

CFC Overmarketing Levy 2  (20,455)  (318,856)

Quota transfer   374,156   358,009 

Government grants 5 and 10  158,068   260,628 

Interest income   143,197   160,775 

Other revenues and recoveries   81,156   79,491 

   13,338,190   11,951,707 

Expenses      
From ongoing operations     

Amortization   498,349   491,449 

Audit   33,270   30,900 

Bad debt expense   27,722   — 

Bank charges and investment expenses   50,592   51,788 

Benevolent 11  40,420   43,854 

Board members’ expenses   131,297   154,123 

Board members’ fees   418,293   429,925 

Building lease   170,841   186,372 

Business consulting fees   121,650   137,458 

Contracted and temporary help   172,648   167,831 

District Committee Representatives’ expenses  19,743   19,924

District Committee Representatives’ fees  48,030   47,543

Employees’ expenses  149,404   140,527 

Events and meetings  75,511   81,109 

Grants to District Committees   6,481   5,132 

Group insurance and pension   418,832   394,455 

Insurance and bonding   20,892   12,389 

IT support expenses   493,761   492,869 

Legal   134,825   99,939 

Membership dues   74,944   73,582 

Office expenses and supplies   106,714   91,480 

Office maintenance    21,993   25,743 

Postage   11,750   11,601 

Professional development   193,419   72,589 

Project expenses    51,031   35,768 

Publications and subscriptions   51,293   63,081 

Recruiting fees   82,684   93,542 

Salaries    5,225,040   4,469,959 

Stakeholder communications   727,493   561,917 

Telephone   56,555   91,826 

Vehicle   224,127   211,695 

   9,859,604   8,790,370 

From sustainability and risk management   
AgriRisk Project    —   104,270 

Feather Board Command Center   47,710   41,324 

Poultry Industry Council  
and Livestock Research Innovation Corp   66,000   66,000 

   113,710   211,594 

From strategic & other initiatives    
Allocating growth   328,720   282,039 

All other initiatives 13  936,426   729,285 

CFO Cares   45,082   398,230 

Cost of Production Formula   1,432,025   1,205,029 

Modular Loading   —   20,810 

Specialty Breeds   22,139   6,508 

   2,764,392   2,641,901 

Total expenses   12,737,706   11,643,865 

Excess of revenue over expenses  600,484   307,842 

Approved by the Board

Ed Benjamins, 
Chair

Rob Dougans, 
President & CEO

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
  Capital Operating 2019 2018 
  assets assets Total Total

  $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year  553,059   7,827,660   8,380,719   8,072,877 

 Excess of revenue over expenses 
(expenses over revenue)  (340,281)  940,765   600,484   307,842 

 Acquisition of capital assets – net  436,811   (436,811)  —   — 

   96,530   503,954   600,484   307,842 

Balance, end of year   649,589   8,331,614   8,981,203   8,380,719

BALANCE SHEET
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
    2019 2018
   Notes $ $

Assets      
Current assets  

Cash and cash equivalents   1,614,262   665,395 

Cash in trust – CFO Cares   211,005   208,969 

Accounts receivable 3 and 15  1,429,323   1,170,636 

Accrued interest receivable   22,087   26,873 

Government remittances receivable   19,927   — 

Prepaid expenses   122,409   124,056 

Other current assets  14  110,038   132,954 

Short term investments   1,416,933   1,306,009 

   4,945,984   3,634,892 

Avian influenza insurance 14  1,000,000   1,000,000 

Investments    4,882,292   5,465,459 

Capital assets 4  771,614   833,152 

   11,599,890   10,933,503 

Liabilities      
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   2,017,238   1,597,236 

Trust liability – CFO Cares   211,005   208,969 

Government remittances payable   —   32,843 

Deferred capital contributions 5  122,025   280,093 

Due to Chicken Farmers of Canada 6  268,419   433,643 

   2,618,687   2,552,784 

Commitments 9  

Net assets      
Net investment in capital assets   649,589   552,657 

Operating   8,331,614   7,828,062 

   8,981,203   8,380,719 

   11,599,890   10,933,503 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019
    2019 2018
   Notes $ $

Operating activities   
Excess of revenue over expenses   600,484   307,842 

Items not affecting cash

Amortization of deferred capital contributions 5  (158,068)  (178,605)

Amortization   498,349   491,449 

Changes in non-cash working capital components 7  (27,330)  (461,140)

   913,435   159,546 

Investing activities
Acquisition of investments - net   472,243   336,521 

Proceeds on disposal of capital assets   —   402 

Acquisition of capital assets   (436,811)  (43,653)

Payment of avian influenza insurance   —   (1,000,000)

   35,432   (706,730)

Financing activity     
Proceeds from deferred capital contributions 5  —   52,110 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   948,867   (495,074)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   665,395   1,160,469 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  1,614,262   665,395

CHICKEN FARMERS OF ONTARIO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2019

1. Description of business
Chicken Farmers of Ontario (“the Organization”) is a board which operates under the 
Farm Products Marketing Act to regulate the production and marketing of chicken in 
Ontario. The Organization is a not for-profit corporate body constituted by Regulation 
of the Lieutenant Governor in Council pursuant to the Farm Products Marketing Act, 
R.S.O. 1990.

The Organization leads positive change and building value as Canada’s premier 
provider of trusted, family-farmed, safe, high quality chicken. Underpinned by five value 
creating strategic priorities, the Organization supports profitable, consistent growth, 
responsible sustainable production, effective risk management, positive, productive 
relationships and strong, progressive governance. 

2. Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations and reflect the following significant 
accounting policies:

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting 
standards for not for profit organizations requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Due to the inherent uncertainty in making estimates, actual 
results could differ from these estimates. Significant estimates include amounts 
receivable from farmer members for the final Quota Period of the fiscal year,  
accrued liabilities, over-marketing levies payable to Chicken Farmers of Canada 
and amortization expense. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances in the bank,  
and short-term investments with maturities of three months or less from the date  
of acquisition.

Revenue recognition 

The Organization’s primary operating revenue is from license fees representing $1.60 
($1.60 in 2018) per hundred kilograms of chicken sold to the processors. Revenues 
from fees are recognized on the date of purchase of chicken by the processor.

Another main source of revenue is over-quota levies (OQL). Over-quota levies are 
assessed by the Organization when a quota holder’s production exceeds the allocated 
crop quota plus a percent sleeve determined by the Organization for each quota period 
related to the over production. 

Secondary sources of revenue arise from grant applications, quota transfer fees and 
interest income on investments. Revenues from grant applications and investment 
income are recognized when received or receivable, if the amount to be received can 
be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Revenues from grant 
applications specific to the purchase of capital assets are deferred and amortized on 

the same basis as the related asset. Revenue from quota transfer fees is recognized on 
the date the transfer is approved by the Organization.

Over-marketing levies

Over-marketing levies are assessed by Chicken Farmers of Canada when applicable. 
They are based on provincial over-production greater than 102% for two consecutive 
quota periods measured even and odd periods.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line 
method at rates based on their estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment ..................................................................................................10%

Computer equipment & systems ...........................................................................50%

CFO Connects computer system ............................................................................20%

Mobile application software ..................................................................................20%

Leasehold improvements ......................................................................................20%

Additions are amortized from the month of acquisition. Assets under development are 
not amortized until in use. Disposals are amortized until the month of disposition.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets such as capital assets are tested for recoverability whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value exceeds the 
total undiscounted cash flows expected from the use and eventual disposition of the 
item. The amount of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying 
value of the asset over its fair value at the date of impairment.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value when the 
Organization becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
Subsequently, all financial instruments are measured at amortized cost except for the 
following instruments:

a. Investments in unlisted shares are measured at cost less any reduction for 
impairment;

b. Investments in listed shares and derivative financial instruments that are not 
designated in a qualifying hedging relationship are measured at fair value at the 
balance sheet date. The fair value of listed shares is based on the latest closing 
price and the fair value quote received from the bank counterparty is used as a 
proxy for the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Interest earned on short term investments and bonds, dividends received on unlisted 
shares, unrealized gains and losses on listed shares, and realized gains and losses 
on sale of short term investments and bonds are included in other income in the 
statement of revenue and expenses.

Transaction costs related to financial instruments measured at fair value subsequent 
to initial recognition are expensed as incurred. Transaction costs related to other 
financial instruments are added to the carrying value of the asset or netted against 
the carrying value of the liability and are then recognized over the expected life of the 
instrument using the effective interest method. Any premium or discount related to an 
instrument measured at amortized cost is amortized over the expected life of the item 
using the effective interest method and recognized in net earnings as interest income 
or expense.

With respect to financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, the Organization 
recognizes in net earnings an impairment loss, if any, when there are indicators or 
impairment and it determines that a significant adverse change has occurred during 
the period in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows. When the extent 
of impairment of a previously written-down asset decreases and the decrease can 
be related to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed to net earnings in the period the  
reversal occurs.

3. Accounts receivable
    2019  2018 

     $   $ 

Trade receivables   1,312,050  1,120,095 

Other receivables   187,294  92,840 

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (70,021) (42,299)

  1,429,323 1,170,636
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4. Capital assets
    2019  2018 

   Accumulated  Net book Net book 
  Cost   amortization   value   value 

   $   $   $   $ 

Office equipment 145,117  131,905  13,212 17,512

Computer equipment & systems  435,292  380,623 54,669 64,873 

CFO Connects computer system  2,369,938  1,920,203 449,735 637,046 

Mobile application software  71,871   7,187   64,684   — 

Computer software under development  168,688   —   168,688   71,871 

Leasehold improvements  222,833   202,207   20,626  41,850 

   3,413,739   2,642,125   771,614  833,152

5. Deferred capital contributions
    2019 2018

    $  $

Balance, beginning of year   280,093   406,588 

Less: amounts recognized  
as revenue in the year (Note 10)   (158,068)  (178,605)

Plus: amounts received   —   52,110 

   122,025   280,093 

6. Due to Chicken Farmers of Canada
During the year, the Organization collected levies on behalf of Chicken Farmers of 
Canada in the amount of $3,201,286 ($3,046,449 in 2018). Accordingly, these 
amounts have not been reflected in revenue or expenses.

7. Supplemental cash flow information
Changes in non-cash working capital components 
    2019  2018 
     $   $ 

Accounts receivable    (258,687)  (494,790)

Grant receivable   —   158,798 

Accrued interest receivable    4,786   2,953 

Prepaid expenses   1,647   (60,780)

Other current assets   22,916   (132,954)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   420,002   (30,051)

Government remittances   (52,770)  (21,640)

Due to Chicken Farmers of Canada   (165,224)  117,324 

   (27,330)  (461,140)

8. Letter of credit
A letter of credit in the amount of $702,239 has been issued in favour of Chicken 
Farmers of Canada. This facility is collateralized by accounts receivable and a general 
security agreement.

9. Commitments 
The Organization leases its head office, office equipment and automobiles under 
operating leases that expire at various dates up to 2024. Scheduled future lease 
payments are due as follows:
     $

2020     297,458  

2021     251,209  

2022     218,492  

2023     16,137  

2024    3,582 

   786,878  

10. Government grant
During the prior year the Organization was approved for funding from the AgriRisk Initiatives 
Program in the amount of $106,020 which has been recorded in government grants on the 
statement of revenue and expenses. No grant was received in the current year. 

The CFO Connects computer system received funding from the Growing Forward 
2 Program that totaled $759,942 and has been recorded as deferred capital 
contributions (Note 5). The amount will be amortized into income over a five year period 
ending in 2020. There was $151,988 ($151,988 in 2018) amortized into income for 
the year ending December 31, 2019.

The Organization received funding from GF2 for Mobile Technologies in the amount 
$52,110 and has been recorded as deferred capital contributions (Note 5). In addition, 
GF2 contributed $6,080 ($2,620 in 2018) for Reporting and Analysis which has been 
recorded in government grants on the statement of revenue and expenses.

11. Benevolent
    2019  2018 

     $   $ 

Rural Ontario Institute   7,500   15,000 

Ontario Association of Food Banks   10,000   11,500 

Ontario Agricultural Hall of Fame   2,000   1,000 

Daily Bread Food Bank   20,000   15,000 

Others (less than $1,000)   920   1,354 

   40,420   43,854

12. Financial instruments 
Credit risk

The Organization provides credit to its customers in the normal course of its operations. 
On a continuing basis it manages and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
However, the Organization’s business has a significant number of farmer members and 
processors, which reduces the concentration of credit risk.

The Organization’s exposure to credit risk in respect of its other assets is not significant. 
The bonds are investment grade instruments with a minimum credit rating of AA- as at 
December 31, 2019 (AA-  as at December 31, 2018) and the short term investments 
represent deposits with Canadian chartered banks. 

Liquidity risk

The Organization’s objective is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due. The Organization monitors its cash balances and cash flows generated from 
operations to meet its requirements. As at December 31, 2019, the most significant 
financial liabilities are accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

13. All other initiatives
Other initiatives reflects the Organization’s investments in the long term sustainability of 
the chicken industry. These include technology, digitization & data investments, diversity 
& inclusive governance, and strategic planning.  

14. Avian influenza insurance 
During 2018, CFO implemented a scalable, adaptable insurance solution for the 
benefit of Ontario farmer-members and industry stakeholders. On November 26, 2018, 
CFO entered, on behalf of Ontario Chicken Farmers (the subscribers), a memorandum 
of understanding (MOU), with the Poultry Insurance Exchange of Canada (PIE), that 
obliged all chicken farmers to have and maintain avian influenza insurance and that 
such insurance be obtained through PIE. On December 20, 2018, CFO advanced 
$1,000,000 to PIE for the purpose of providing sufficient interim capital to the Chicken 
Farmers Underwriting Group III. PIE will repay the Capital Contribution to CFO over a 
reasonable period of time and considering factors including the amount of premium 
income received by PIE from subscribers, the risk profile of the Chicken Farmers 
Underwriting Group III, the claims experience of the Chicken Farmers Underwriting 
Group III and the current and projected financial circumstances of PIE. 

In 2019 CFO advanced $864,410 ($111,307 in 2018) to PIE related to  
2019 premiums. 

Chicken farmers will pay the premium owed to PIE through CFO. Upon receipt of an 
invoice from PIE in relation to the chicken farmers, CFO will deliver premium monies 
to PIE in advance on behalf of the chicken farmers in the initial year only. In all years 
following the initial year, surplus funds in PIE will fund the advance annual premiums 
due on February 28. CFO will remit premiums collected from chicken farmers to PIE on 
a quarterly basis thereafter. As at December 31, 2019, CFO has received $887,327 
($7,980 in 2018) from chicken farmers. The net impact of CFO advances to PIE and 
premiums collected from chicken farmers was $80,410 ($103,328 in 2018) and is 
included in other current assets on the balance sheet. 

In the prior year, in accordance with the MOU, CFO invoiced PIE $47,153 for reasonable 
expenses incurred by CFO, including individuals working on behalf of CFO, specialized 
consultants and lawyers engaged in PIE related matters in managing, administering, 
investigating, researching and advancing CFO’s disease insurance platform. No amounts 
were invoiced to PIE in 2019.

15. Emergency depopulation program
CFO has advanced $168,812 related to an industry-led emergency management 
solution which provides CFO farmer-members and industry partners with access to 
innovative emergency flock depopulation services.

The new depopulation solution is a significant step forward in the Industry’s on-going 
commitment to best-in-class animal welfare practices, and effective risk management 
strategies. Costs are anticipated to be recovered from a chick levy. 

16. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current 
year’s presentation.
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The Fotheringham family, 
Chicken Farmers from Palmerston, Ontario



Stakeholder  
Relationships 

CFO STRATEGIC 
RELATIONSHIPS
ECONOMIC ADVISORY
JRG Consulting Group

GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
Enterprise Canada

PUBLIC RELATIONS AND CRISIS 
COMMUNICATIONS
Hill + Knowlton Strategies Canada

STRATEGIC AND LEGAL COUNSEL
DS Avocats

Wilson Spurr LLP Lawyers

Watershed LLP

AUDITORS
Deloitte LLP

BANK
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC)

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Bryan Boyle + Associates

Strive Consulting

PEOPLE AND CULTURE
Lee Hecht Harrison Knightsbridge

CFO INDUSTRY 
COLLABORATION
CANADIAN BROILER 
COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVE
Rick Kaptein, District 2 Board Director

CHICKEN FARMERS OF  
CANADA REPRESENTATIVE
Tim Klompmaker, District 9 Board Director

CHICKEN FARMERS OF CANADA 
ALTERNATE REPRESENTATIVE
Rick Kaptein, District 2 Board Director

FARM & FOOD CARE ONTARIO 
REPRESENTATIVE 
Jordan Fois, District 5 Board Director

FEATHER BOARD COMMAND CENTRE 
REPRESENTATIVE 
Tom Beischlag, District 4 Board Director  
Dr. Tom Baker, Manager and Incident Commander

ONTARIO FEDERATION OF AGRICULTURE 
REPRESENTATIVE
Adrian Rehorst, District 1 Board Director 

POULTRY INDUSTRY COUNCIL 
REPRESENTATIVE
Mark Hermann, District 8 Board Director

POULTRY INSURANCE EXCHANGE 
REPRESENTATIVE
Tom Beischlag, District 4 Board Director

TRADE REPRESENTATIVE 
Tim Klompmaker, District 9 Board Director

Stakeholder Relationships 
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CAITLIN LEE
Coordinator, Processor Supply

CFO works closely with processors through CFO’s allocation process in order to 
ensure the efficient, timely supply of chicken product for market.

In her role as Coordinator, Processor Supply, Caitlin Lee works with both 
chicken processors and fellow Production Planning team members to ensure 
the stability, accuracy and effectiveness of chicken allocation and processor 
supply. Whether it’s managing processor supply documentation or analyzing 
and optimizing the digital allocation business processes, Caitlin’s role is central 
to keeping the allocation deliverables on-track.

Caitlin joined CFO in 2017.

Processors are encouraged to work with Caitlin, and she can be reached at 
caitlin.lee@ontariochicken.ca.

Abate Packers Ltd.

Cami International 
Poultry Inc.

Conscious Living Cuisine

ENS Poultry Inc.

Farm Fresh Poultry 
Co-operative Inc.

Hafiz Halal Poultry Inc.

King Capon Ltd.

Laplante Poultry Farms Ltd.

Lowbank Farms Ltd.

Sheik Halal Farms Inc.

Wellington Poultry Ltd.

2019 CUSTOMERS

Meet
part of the

team!
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